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GOLDEN DEEPS LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT

Your Directors present thelr report on the consciidated enfity consisting of Golden Deeps
Limited and its confrolled enfifies for the yvear ended 30 June 2021,

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during and since the end of the financial year were:

Michoe! Rodriguesz
Michoe! Scivolo
Michoe! Norbum
Robert Colins
Jcott Malhawson

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The Golden Deeps Lid |'Golden Deeps’ or “the Company’] primary focus is high-grade copper
and vanadium [with lead, Zine and siver) projects in the Werld-Class Otavi-Mountain-Land
{OML) copper distict. northeast Mamibia, Affica [see Figure 1). The Company also holds high-
grade gold and copper-gold projects ot Tuckers Hill and Havilah in central NSW. Australio
[Figure 7) and cobalt-siver projects at Professor and Waldman in Ontarie, Canada (Figure 9).
Appendx 1 includes a tabulotion of cument tenements  —
and details. :

Key projechs in Homibéa include the Abenab high-grode
vanadium (leod. zinc) project [Abenab), the MNosb
Block high-grade vanadium, copper, lead, siver project
(Nosib) and the Khusib Springs high-grade copper-silver
Praject, all within 20km of each olher [Figure 2).

The Compony completed a mining sfudys on the
Abenab Project thot establishad that there is potential
for o viable underground mining cperalion focused on
the higher-grode porflons of the cument Abenab
Mineral Resource at a targeted production rafe of
14,500 tonnes per monih [ipm) or 174,000 fonnes per
annum (tpal of high-grade Vanadium ore with lead
and zinc by-products.

Processing studies are in progress®, locused on leaching
high-grade vanadium concentrafe to produce a
saleable, high-value, vanadium product [infermediate
or vanadivm pentoxdde - VaOs). Figure |: Key Frojects in Nomibia, locotion

Driling ot Mesib Project, 20km along strike to the southwest of Abenab (Figure 2). intersected
high-grade vanodium, copper, lead and siver mineralisafion from surfoce including. in
NSBRCO10% 29m & 1.54% Cu, 4.49% Pb, 1.19% V205, 4.97 g/t Ag from 2m incl. ¥m & 3.44%% Cu,
11.91% Pb, 3.42% V205, 7.70 g/t Ag®. A deeper zone of stratabound copper-silver
mineralisation up o 45m thick was also intersected and remains cpen at depth. Further drilling
is planned fo commence shortly to define and extend both the shallow high-grade copper.
lead, vanadium zone and the deeper copper-siver mineralisation.
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Drilling obo tested shallow prajections of the Khusib Springs deposit that previowsly produced
300,000t at 10% Cu and 584 g/t Ag?* to only 300m depth. Deeper driling is planned to target a
repeat of this very-high-grade copper-siver shoot af depth,

On the Lochlon fold Belt [LFB| projects in N3W, driling is plonned to test for high-grade gold
shoots af Tuckers Hill onoce occess ogreements far Crown Land are finalised with the Native title
claimant, and soil sampling is planned for the Havilah copper-gold project, in the vicinity of
hislorical high-grade copper mines.

Expiorafion is also planned for the Professor and Waldman cobalt-siver projects in Ontario,
where previous rockchip somple grodes up to 1.01% Co, 200 g/t Ag and 0.4 g/t Au'S have
bean produced.

EXPLORATION AND DEVELOPMENT STUDIES - NAMIBIA

The Company holds an B0% interest in five Exclusive Prospecting Licences [EPL's) over 433.72
km?, The two key tenements, EPL 3543 and EPL 5494, include the historically important and
high-grode Abenab vanadium mine, the very-high-grade Khusib Sprngs copper-siver mine
and the Mosib Block prospect [Figure 2].

The Companies Projects are located in the Otovi Mountain Lond (OML), northeast Namibia
[Figure: 1]. which i a globally significont base metal province with production coming from
several mines, including the now closed Tsumeb, Kombat, and Berg Aukas mines as well as
Abenab and Khusib Springs.
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Figure I: Lecolion plan EPL 3543 and EFL 5494, nonheast Namibia (sew Figure 1), with key project locations
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Mosib Bleck High-Grade Copper-Vanadium-Lead-Silver Drilling Infersections:

Mosib Block was o high-grode copper-vanadium mine that is locoted ot the western end of
EPLA543, | dkm west of Khusib Springs and 20km along stike from the Company's Abenab high-
grade Vanadium Project (Figure 2). Copper mineralisafion was discovered of Nosib in 17135
with mine occess development work between 1917 to 1920, The historic No 2 shaft was
developed on three levels fo a depth of 120m but not mined. Golden Deeps’ geoclogists
accesed the three levels of the mine ond took underground chonnel somples from the walls
of the drives. Best channe! results include NOUGO001: ém at %.3% Cu, 4.72% Pb, 7.92g/t Ag*.

The high-grade copper-siver-vanadium-lead mineralizofion dips moderately to the north o
is hosted by conglomerate and sondstone [mine sequence] in contact with dolomite fo the
north and bosemnent granite to the south. The mineralisation shows good continuity and
remains in-situ becouse the areas between the development drives were not mined.

The drilling at Nosib tested between fhe previously developed levels, targeting extensions fo
the high-grade copper-lkead-siver-vanadium ore that was chonnel sampled. A total of 13
reverse circulafion [RC) for 958m were completed af Nosib Block. Copper mineralsation was
infersected in all 15 holes, with the majority of the holes preducing significant copper, lead and
high-grade vanadium intersections, as well as increasing silver assays with depth.

Tweo key 2ones have been identified at Nosib Block. inclueding:

i} The shallow high-grade, copper-lead-vanadium zone that is open along frike to the
southwest and northeast, that includes the following key intersections:

NSERCOO7": 24m 8 1.33% Cu, 4.77% Pb, 1.37% V205, 3.67g/t Ag from 3m
incl.  &m @347 Cu, 14.9% Pb, 4.40% V:0s 12.14g/1 Ag from ém

- NSBRCO1O: 29m @ 1.54% Cu. 4.49% Pb, 1.19% V204, 6.97g/t Ag from 2m
incl.  ¥m & 3.64% Cu, 11.91% Pb, 3.62% V:0s, 7.709/t Ag from 3Im

i) The deeper thick, stratabound, copper-siver zone, that is developed across the entire
~45m thickness of the arenite/conglomerate host unit, that incledes the lollowing key
inferseciions:

MNSBRCOOPS; 45m @ 0.44% Cu, 4.19g/! Ag from 38m
incl.  5m @ 2.58% Cu, 18.75g/1 Ag from é1m, and,
Incl.  3m @ 1.18% Cv, 7.03 g/t Ag from 7dm
NSBRCO03' 44m & 0.74% Cu, 0.17% Pb, 4.37 g/t Ag from d4ém
incl.  4m @ 2.28% Cu, 1.10% Pb, 6.17 g/t Ag from 51m, and,
incl.  4m @ 1.67% Cu, 17.0 g/t Ag from é8m, and,
incl  1m @ 3.44% Cu, 18.9 g/l Ag from 75m

Further driling is now planned tc define the resource potentiol ond test strike extensions of the
shallow high-grode copper-lead-vanadium zone as well as test the down plunge potential of
the skrotabound, copper-siver zone [see Figure 3, cross section, below].
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Figwre 3: Noslb Cross sechion 8010 1EmE with high-grode cepper-Lecd-Vanadivm-Sives inferseclions

Khuslb Springs High-Grade Copper-Silver Project:

The Khusib Springs copper-silver mine is also located on EPLA543, opproximately 10km west of
Mosib Block but on o separale, parallel, comidor [Figure 2], The mine previowly produced o
very high-grade 300,000t of 105 Cu and 584g/1 Ag*, to only 300m depth, with drilling down dip
having intersected further copper-silver mineralisafion, thot ik open ot depth [see Figure 4
below].

A targelfing stedy on Khusib Springs was completed by South Africon bosed geclogical
consultancy, Shango Soluticns, in Jonuary 20218, and indicoted potential for rermnoant zones of
copper-siver mineralisalion on the margins of the mined stopes, as well as significant potential
for o repeat of the very-high grade Ehusib Springs copper-silver orebody at depth [Figure 4).

A shallow RC drilling program totalling 10 holes for 331m fested for shallow, high-grade, copper-
siver mineralisotion adjocent fo the histofical sfopes ond up-plunge from orebodies mined
underground, producing significant copper-siver infersections that include:
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KHRCOO042: ém @ 1.07% Cu, B6.03 g/t Ag from 13m incl. 2m & 2.59% Cu, 179 g/t Ag
KHRCOOS5": 3m @ 0.77% Cu, 113.92 g/t Ag from 32m incl. Tm & 1.28% Cu, 144 g/t Ag

Several holes intersecied previous stoping/mining that extends above the modelled openings.
The intersections abowve wverfy thot o proporfion of the remnant shallow copper-silver
mineralisation remaing ur-mined and further interpretafion and modefing wil be camied out
te determine open pit resource potential,

Potential for a deeper repeat of the very-high-grode Khusib Springs copper-siver arabody
highighted by the Shango study, i cumently the focus of further interpretation, modeling and
largeting. Deeper diomond drilling will be plonned to further test the highly prospective zone
on the norfhem side of on opporent normual-faull, where mineralisofion has olreody been
intersecied by previous diiling [Figure 4). The discovery of a repeat of Khusib Springs would be
o ‘game-changer’ for Golden Deeps and will be a key focus of the 2021-22 program.

_-F-ll"
il

Flgure d: Crodd sechion, Khuslt Sprimgs Mine, showing sloped aa, mine development & un-mined miknsnaficolon

Abenab Vanadium Froject Mining Sludy Completed and Processing Study in progress:

The historical Abenab Mine was a major open pit and underground vanadium and base metal
mining operation in the Otavi Mountain Land, with reported historical ore production of ~1.8Mt
@ 1.05% V3Os for approximately 102,000t of concenirate groding 18% VOu, 13% In ond 42%
P, Historic ol explorafion and more recent driling indicates that thene is potential for extensions
of the mineralsation ot depth and latesally. Potential exists to re-open the Abenab Mine and
to process the high-grade V-In-Pb mineralsation using simple, low-cost processing methods,
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In Jonuary 201%, Golden Deeps repored on upgrode in the rescurce following detailed
geclogical reviews aond creafion of a new geclogical model, The Infered Mineral Resource
reported is 2.8M1 ot 0.64% V04, 2.35% Pb and 0.94% In ot a cul-off grade of 0.27% Vi0s".

Abenab Mining Study:

During the reporting year the company completed a mining study on the Abenab high-grade
vonadium-lead-zine project (the Mining Study$).

The Mining Sludy was camied oul by Bara Consulting, based in South Afica, with the aim of
providing on understanding of ikely mining scenanios, cosls ond cut-off grades to guide further
development ond processing studies ond aid decision making during the cument and ongoing
aexploraficn progroms,

The study has estoblished thot there & potential for o vioble underground mining operation
focused on the higher-grode porticns of the curent Mineral Resowrce® at a fargeted
produciion rate of 14,300 tonnes per month [tpm) or 174,000 tonnes per annum (tpa) of high-
grade Vanadium are,

Mining costs based on mechanized cut and fill methodology are esfimated fo be in the order
of Uss44/t af the above production rate and. with high-level processing cost assumptions,
leods to an effective Run of Mine [ROM) breck-even cut-off grade of 1'% V:0: equivolent®
[opproximately 0.7% VD).

The Mineral Resource available fo mine at the above ROM cut-off grode is 873,000 fonnes af
an average grade of 1.4% EgV'2, Mining recovery assuming planned ore-loss in the production
cyche is in the order of 724,000 fonnes af 1.5% EqV [opprodmately 1% VaOs),

Access was modeiled based on extending the existing shaft for different production rates os
well oz establizhing o new decline from sufoce [ond maintaming the exsting shaft for
venfilation). The difference in cost ond timeframe o refurbish ond extend the shaft fora 14,300
tpm production rate versus establishing o new decling is nof substantial, and the decline option
is favoured due to flexibility of production rate should additional ore-sources be brought info
production.

The ovallable resource for mining is bosed on o grade = tonnoge versus cut-off grode
calculotion at the assumed preduciion rate and mining and processing cost inputss,. There is
a wgnificant opporunity to increate the mineable resource as a sub-set of what & cumently
defined through reducing input cost assumptions and increasing recovery, If this i achieved
the fonnage increases exponentially below a cut-olf grade of 0.5% EqV* [opproximately 0.35%
¥20:), as the lorge volume of lower grode resource becomes accessible ond bulk-fonnoge
rmaning methods con be infroduced = increasing the mining rate and reducing cosls.

Further exploration success, delineating additional resources (targeled al depth, Figure 5),
would increase the mineable resource invenlory and exiend mine-kfe os well as provide an
opporiunity for increased mining volumes if fonnes per verdical meke at the shallower levels is
improved.

Abenaob PFrocesting Study:

In addiion, o precessing sludy hos been inifiated through metallrgical consultonts and
processing engineers, Core Resouwrces ["Core”), in Brisbane, for Phose 2. downstream
procesing testwork to develop fliow-sheet options for the generation of high-value Vanadium
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Fentoxdde [VaO:] o3 wel o leod and zinc (and potentially Copper) products from inifial gravity

concentraiea.

Frevious festwork on the high-grade underground resowrce material by Avonlea Minerals Lid
in 20121, using gravity separation, produced a high concentrate grade of 21% V;Ou, 14% In
and 53% Pb. Further, Phase 1, testwork by Golden Deeps on the Abenab minerolisotion by
specialist metallurgical festwork company, Mintek. In South Affica, was completed onremnant
low-grade mineralised material from historic surtace stockpies [much lower grode than the
high-grade underground resource materiall.  This work confirmed that low-grade
mineralizalion could alse be substantially concentraled through simple gravity separafion
methods from material grading 0.30% V:0s, 1.29% Pb and 1.14% In fo an approximate 30 imes
upgrade of 8.9 % V10s, 30.5% Pb, 8.95% In'3,
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Concenfrate from the Mintek testwork wos provided to Core to cary out the, Phase 2,

downstream processing teshwork. Prefiminory resulls have demonsirated fovourable leach
recoveres of *>P0R for Vonadium and Iine with the majority of the Lead reporting to the
resicue,

Cngoing work will examine differential precipitation of V:0: ond recovery of Zine from the
leach solufion, as well os exiroction of Lead from the leach residue. Confinued festwork is alko
examining opfions for reducing acid-consumption and minimising operafing costs,
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The outcames of this testwork will guide development of an opfimal processing flow-sheet, with
the upside opportunity of establishing stand-alone mining ond processing operations ot
Abenab to produce vanodium, zing. leod and possibly copper.

Bozed on the posifive outcomes of the Mining Study and initial processing festwork the
Company i cumently re-evaluafing ond medeling the potential to locate extensions fo the
high-grade Vanoadium and base metal sulphide mineralisation both within the vicinity of the
cumeni resources and ot depth [Figure 5).

Other EPLs in the Ofavi Mountain Land:

Golden Deeps holds three Exclusive Prospecting Licences, EPL's 5232, 5223 and 5234, between
the fowns of Kombot ond Otovi neor the Deblin Copper Mine (Figure &). 5ol sampling
programs have been conducted af the Hohentweil and Kombat South prospects on EPL5232
and BEPLS233.
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Figure & Locaion plan EFLs 5232, 5233 and 5234 SW of Ehusib Speings, m.hztmld_..th-r:ﬁ

At the Hohentweil prospect on EPLS232, 205 5ol somples were collected and analysed. The
peak value was 27%ppm Cuin o bockground of less than 50ppm Cu't. The copper anomaly is
gver 1km long by 400m wide and coincides with a kew Rl suveunded by sandy transported
soil that i geochemically inert (Fgure 7). Copper mineralisation was mopped af the surfoce
ot the conloct betwean a carbonate reck and melovoleanics that frends to the southwest.

The Hohentwel prospect is located approximately Skm along strike to the west of the Deblin
Copper Mine that is held by Vetorantim Metals, The Deblin Mine mineralised frend shows good
confinuity and is likely fo confinue under cover to the west of Hohenhweil where it has not been
tested with drilling.
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At the Kembal South prospect on EPL5233, 330 soil somples were collecfed and onalysed with
@ peak value of 345ppm Cuin o bockground of less than S0ppm Cu't, Two anomalias wera
idenfified on low hills aigned in an opproxmate east-west direction parallel to bedding. The
larger anomaly s 500m long by 200m wide and & surounded by transporfed sandy soil that
hos shielded the bedrock geochemical responsa.

Shallow reconnaissance driling is planned to test the copper anomalies of the Kombat South
and Hohenbweil prospects. Driling will test the mineralised Debln trend and extend the
coverage into areas with shallow cover where the soll sampling was not effective,

Additional scil sompling & planned of other priorty targefs on EPL5232, 5233 and 5234 to
generate fargels for dhilling.
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AUSTRALIAN GOLD AND COFPER-GOLD PROJECTS:

The Company haolds a 100% interest in two granted explorafion licences, ELF014, Tuckers Hll
and ELB¥34, Havilah, located near Mudges in the Lachlan Fold Belt of NSW (see Figure 8).

The projects ore locoted in the east LFE, a high-profile mining and exploratfion region that
contains several major gold, copper-gold and silver depaosits. These include Newcrest Mining
Lid's Codia-Ridgeway Mine, Evolution Mining Lid's Lake Cowal Mine, China Molybdedum Co.
Lid's Morth Porkes Mine, Alkone Resources Lid's Tomingley mine. and Siver Mines Lid's
Bowdens deposit,
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Tuckers Hill Gold Project (EL9014)

The Tuckers Hill Gold Project is located near the fown of Hargraves in New South Wales of flve
northern end of the Hill End Goldfield [Figure 8). Peak Minerals Lid has reported a total Mineral
Eesource of 4.68M1 8 3.3g/1 Au'? for Hill End.

Diamond driling is planned fo fest gold mineralised veins in the east limb of the Tuckers Hill
anficline below previous underground mireng. The holes ore plonned from the crest of the hill
and will farget high-grade gold in saoddie reefs and leg structures at the apex of the anticline.

The drill sites are located on Crown Lond Lots that have varying status thot require lond access
agreements and Herfoge ogreemenfs with the Naotive Tile claimants. Golden Deeps
conftinuas its engagement with the vanows stakeholders and the Kative Title claimants fo gain
acces approvals for dhilling. Ronpoit Explorafion, bosed in Orange, N5W is assisfing with land
Qooass approvals,

Directors' Repon Page Na, 12
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Havilah Project (ELBY34)

Haviloh ELE®34 ks o granted Exploration Licence locoted 20km east of Tuckers Hill near Mudgee
in M5W. The Project is located within the East Lachion Fold Belt [LFB) close to Peck Minerals Ply
Lid"s Hill End Gold Project and Silver Mines Limited's Bowdens Silver Project thal has a Mineral
Resource of 128MI at 40g/t Ag. 0.38% In, 0.24% Pb'4 (Figure 10).

The pricrty torget at Haviloh is o belt of Ordovician age volcanic recks thal form part of the
Macguare Arc thal hosts the Codia, Morth Parkes and Loke Cowal deposits. Historical
workings at the Milfor Prospect and Cheshire Mine ore hosted by Ordovicion aged voloonic
rocks that contain pyrite and chalcopyrite, thal occwr close io the northem maorgin of the Mt
Fleasant “porphyry” infrusion - avident in magnetic imagery.

4 soil sampling program is plonned to cover the arec between the Cheshire copper mine and
the Milfior prospect [Figure 10) to generate largets for drilling. A lond access agreement has
been signed with the local landholder and, subject to final planning, the soll sampling program
will commence shortly.
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ONTARID COBALT PROJECTS

Golden Deeps acquired TOE of the Professor and Waldman cobealt-siver projects in December
2017, The projects are located in the historic Cobalt Mining Comp., approximately 5 kilometres
and 3 klometres [respectively] southeast of the town of Cobalt, Ontare (Fgure 11]. The
projects exhibif similar geclogy to olher past operating and producing cobalt and silver mines
in fhe region.
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Fgure 11: Lecalion of Profetior & Waldman projech, Ontario, Conodao showing kishorc /producing mines In reghon

Thie Professer Co-Ag Preject is localed in the north-eastern portion of Gillles Limit Township,
approwmately 5 km southeast of the lown of Cobalt [Figure 14). The Professor Project consists
of a contiguous landholding of 15 patent and leasehold claims for a total of 123 hectares and
inciudes historical working known as the Professor Adit, 3 Cuford Shalis and the Curnmins Pits,

The: historic 280 metfre-long Professor Adit, with opprosimately 590 metres of loteral workings,
wias mined on the property in the early 1940, The adit, which B sl acceisible, exposed lour
vein systerms confaining disseminaled to semi-maossive cobalf-silver mineralisofion,
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Very little work and limited driling has been completed on the project area since fhe mid-
1940's and it s considered to be under-explored. In January 2018, rock chip sampiing of calcite
veins in the Professor Mine adit, camed ouf by Golden Deeps. retumned grades of up to 0,623
@/1 Au, 200 g/t Ag and 1.01% Co'8, The veins also contained high levels of lead which is fypical
of the Cobolt area.

The Waldman Ag-Co project is located about 3 km south of Cobalt (Figure 18) and consists of
a configuous landholding of 1% Crown Claims, for o folal of 188.0 hectares. The claim block
includes the past producing Waldmoaon Mine locoted on the eastem side of the claim block
that was operated perodically from 1910 fo 1930, A fofal of 58 tons (52.6 mefric lonnes) of ore
was taken from Waldman Mine, from which a tefal of 33,525 ounces of siver and 2,046 pounds
of cobalt was preduced.

Grab samples assayed in the vicinity of the Waldman Mine in 2004 refumed volues as high as
1.9% Co, 2.2% NI, 1.4% Pb ond 3.1% In'7.

Exploration targets are namow, high-grade mineroglised veins (such as those historically
exploited underground) and for broader zones of vein or diseminated mineraisation that may
be potentially amenable fo open-pit or larger-scale underground mining operations.

In light of the recen! resurgence in both the cobalt and the siver price the Company is
reviawing the potenfiol of the Professor and Waldman Ceo-Ag projects with further explorafion
io be planned. Work should include compilation of previous exploration dala and target
generation prior fo planned fieldwork,
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Hill: Dismond diiling planned”.
B i Lirilad (A5 5V} announcement |3 Sephember 2009 “Preteniafion Denwer Gold ™.
i Geldan Deeps Lid onnouncement, 18 lonuary 2008, High-Grode Assans ot Professor CobattSilver Project
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FRIMCIFAL ACTIVITIES

The principal continuing activity of the Company and its controlled entily is the exploration for
minerc! deposits.

RESULTS

The consolidated loas for the finoncial year offer providing for income fox amounted o
$476,547 (2020: $847.534).

DIVIDENDS
Mo amounts have been paid or declared as payable during the course of the financial year,
FINAMCIAL POSITION

The nat assets of the Group have increased by $4, 727,431 from $2,348,177 at 30 June 2000 fo
37,077,608 at 30 June 2021.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The Company will confinue o sxplore its lanaments in Ausirala, Namibia and Canodo. Reler
o Review of Operafions for more dedails.

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND COMPANY SECRETARY
Gualifications, experience and special responsibilifies of Directors:
DIRECTORS

il Michoel Rodriguez (Mon-Executive Directar)

Mr Roddguez has over 30 vears’ experience in fhe design, construction,
commissioning, operafion ond management of hydrometallurgical and pyro-
metallurgical plants across Australia, Turkey, Eurcpe and the Americas, He B a
qualified metallurgist with a strong background in project construction mechanical
complefion and site handover o operalions,

Mr Rodnguet brings to the Company o wealth of melaliurgical process and
comstruction experence. The appoinfment brings closer, and supports Golden
Deeps’ goaol, of bringing the Abenob vanadium project info produchion as a low
capital cost, low operating cost, vanadium producer.

[ Michoel fcivols B, Com, FOPA [Mon-Executive Director]

fr Scivolo has extensive expenance in the fields of occounfing ond taxafion in
both corporate and non-corporate enfifies. He was o Direclor of Bloze
Infernafional Limited until 4 December 2015, KAy Lid [formery Power Resources
Limifed) unfil 17 Movember 2016 and Covata Lid [formerly Prime Minerals Limited)
unfil 2% October 20314, He s curmently a Director of Melals Australic Lid, Sabre
Rescurces Ltd and Bling Minerals ML.
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INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AMD COMPANY SECRETARY
(confinued)

(i)

(iv)

¥

(i

Michoel Norburm, BSc [Hons) (Non-Execufive Director)

Mr Norburn graduated from the University of Birmingham with an honours degree
in engineering and has warked for over twenty five years in the rescurce industry
in Australio, the Middle Eost and Africa.

Rebert Colling (Men-Executive Direchor)

Mr Collins haos served on a number of ASY isted industrial and mining company
boards, ond owned a large accounting prachice serving the comporale secior, He
is cumenily a Mon-Executive Direclor of Melols Ausirolio Lid ond Sabre Rescurces
Lid, He was formerly o Direclor of K2Fly Lid [formery Power Resources Limited) until
17 Movember 2014, Bloze Infematlional Limited untdl B Aprl 2014 and Covala Lid
{formery Primea Minerals Limited) unfil 29 October 2014,

Scott Mathewson [Mon-Executive Direclor)

kr Mathewson has over 25 vears of expenence in senior operafional, fechnical ond
lecdership roles in the meatals, mining and mineral processing sectors with o focus
on operations, mining, process engineering ond business improvement. He has a
passion for sofety ond fostering o caring culture ocross fhe business.

Prior {o joining Golden Deeps, Scoft was the EGM of Global Mining and Production
for an infemational mineral sonds producer where he was responsible for all mining
& production operafions and the development of future growth and expansion
opportunities. Prior o this, he was Technicol Director within the Corporate Rnance
sector responsble for ralsing capital for new mining operations in Ausfroliao ond
intermnalionoly, Across his coreer, Scott has also held senior positions with Rio Tinta,
Alcoa World Aluming and Atlantic Vanadium,

Scott holds o Bochelor of Chemical Engineering from Curtin University and an MBA
from the University of Southem GQueenslond where he mojored in OHS and
Comporate Finonce. He obko helds an Unrestricted WA Quamy Monoger
Cerlification.

following persons acled as Chiel Executive Officer during the financial yeaor:-
Jon Dugdale FAuIMM (oppointed | June 2021)

Mr Dugdale is o very well credenticled geologist and brings over 30 yeors of
axperience in the resowces seclor to Sobre Rescurces, including a strong frock
record of discovery, promotion and copital nasing.

Mr Dugdale spent the fist 20+ vears of his career with WMC and then MP1 Mines
and was involved in major discovery programs ot the 5t lves ond Agnew Gold
propects in WA and with MFl, the exploration ond development of several
dncoveries made by the MPlexploration feam, including Silver Swan nicke! deposit
in Weastern Australio and direct involvermnent in the > 1Moz Golden Gill discovery in
Wastermn Victoria,
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INFORMATION OM DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND COMPANY SECRETARY
(continued)

The lost 10+ years Mr Dugdale has spent fime o3 o Fund Manager with Lion
Seleclion Group then as Monoging Director of several ASX lisfed componias,
directly involved with the promotion and raisng of over $70 milion of capital fo
advonce exploration and complete pre-feasbility studies nto nickel aond gold
projects in the Philippines.

The following persons octed as Company Secretary during the financial year:

(i)

DIRECTORS"
Mo Derechor

tartin Stein B. Bus., CA, FCG, FGIA

Mr Stein is a finonce ond govemaonce professional and hos previously held
execulive posifions with PwC and Anvil Mining Ltd. He is a Chortered Accountant,
Fellow of The Chartered Govemnance Institute and Fellow of Govemance Irstitute
of Autralia,

Mr Stein baings fo the Company @ wealth of expenence in the corporate and
resource sectors, both in Australio and overseos.

Mr tein is gbo the Chief Financial Officer of fhe Company.

IMTEREST IN COMTRACTS
has an interest, whather dreclly or indirecily, in a contract or proposed confract

with the Company, other than by way of confracts for engogement of services in their
capacity as a drector.

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)

Detalls of Key Maonagement Personnel [KEMFP) as af 30 June 2021 were:

Eey Management Personnel Paosifion
"M Rodriguez Hor-execulive Director
M Scivalo Mon-axecufive Direcior

M Morburm Mon-axecutive Diechor
R Colins Mon-execulive Direcior
5 Mothewson Mor-execubive Direclar
4. Dugdale Chief Executive Officer

The directors were all in office for the full year unless otherwize sioted, There are no commitiess

of directors,
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (confinued)

Remuneration of KMFP
02
s ) Share-
Eey Managemenl Short-berm Benefils Salary mlnn based Percenlage ol
Persennel 5 Fayments remuneration
pald in Equity
Directors Fees Consulling Fees Oplions Talal
H i a i - - &
M Rodriguez 24,000 . 5 - - 24,000
b Moo | 4,000 . - - . b4 000
M Scwvalo 1 4,000 - - 1,330 - 15,330
R Coling 14000 . . . 2 4,000 E
5. Maihewson | 6544 - - 1.412 - 18.578 -
J Dugdola® - - ' - E = 2
[F R - - 2.942 . BS. 908 =

1 Mr Jon Dugdale was appoinfed as the Company's Chief Execufive Officer without:

# olden Deeps and Mr Dugdale enterng into on employment, service of consulfoncy
agreement with Sobre Besources, or a child enfity of Golden Deeps; or
# Guolden Deaps and Mr Dugdale entering inlo any other cgresment,

The services of Mr Dugdole to Golden Deeps s govemned by o Services Agreement between Golden
Ceeps and Corporgfe Rescurce Services Ply Lid ["CRS"), which provides the services of Mr Dugdale
to Godden Deaps,

Mr Dugdale B not being poid by Golden Deeps In his copacity os the Company's Chief Executive
Officer. The remuneration of Mr Dugdaole reloting to Sabre Rescurces is poid by CRE, which in tum on
chaorges the remuneration paid fo Mr Dugdale o Sabre Resources at cost without any mark up or
profit,

2020
Super- Shore-based
:I'_l' Hun:lglnu-rﬂ Shorl-term Benedity Salary " Pa : Parcer of
resmunaration
Directors Fees  Consulfing Fees Ciphions Total  paid in Equity
3 2 2 3 3 3 )
M Rodriguez 24,000 - . . g 2 000
b Horburn 14,000 . . . ' 14,000
B SCieobo 15215 - « 1,445 E .00
k Codins 1,000 ‘ ‘ 14,000
5, Mol heirerion' . i
M Minasora 11,000 . . = 1 19,000
188,215 . . 1,445 - 187,440

'Wr. Mathewson received remunerafion os an emploves of fhe Compaony price o lemminaling his
employment contioc! and bacoming o Mon-Execulive Dirgctor,
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REMUMERATION REPORT [AUDITED) (continued)

Key Maonagement Personnel Oplicns and Righls Holding:

There were no oplions over ordinary shares hebd by any KMP as at 30 Jene 2021 or 30 June 2020,
Key Management Personnel Share Holdings

The folowing foble shows the movements in the relevant interests of key management

personnal in the share copital of the Compaony:

Opsning mmmbfm
Bcyich Addiions Disposals June 2021
1 July 2020
Eey Monagement Personnel
M Rodriguez -
M Morbn =
M Scivolo = =
R Callim &20,000 &20,000
5. Mathewson - .
J. Dugdale . .
620,000 £:20,000
m m
Opaning bt 80
hlence Acicilicns Dispoacls June 2021
1 200
Eey Manogement Personnel il
M Rodriguesz -
M Morbum -
M Scivolo - .
R Colins 620,000 420,000
5. Mafhewson . : . :
M Minosora 500,000 EEB-!I.&IE [2384.615) -
1,120,000 2.BB4.815 [3,384.415] 420,000
I At dote of resignation.
Directors’ Fees

Directon receive o fixed fee o remuneration,

Board polcy on fhe remunerafion for this exploration compony is influenced by comparing
fees paid fo drectons in other companies within the exploration indusiry, ond then set of a level
to atiract qualified people, to accept the responsibiiibes of directorship.

Mo Director has an employment confroct.
Terms of employment for Key Management Personnel require that thirly days’ nofice of

fermination of confract is reguired from either emplover or employes. Thers is no agreement
o pay any fermination payment other than occorued salory and annual leave,
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REMUMNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (contfinued)

Being on exploration company with ne eomings. o relofionship & yetl to be esfoblished
betweean an emolument policy and the compony’s performance. During the year the
Company did not engage remunerafion consulfants fo review its existing remunerafion

palicies,

At the last AGM shoreholderns voted to odopf the remuneration report for the yeor ended 30
June 2020, The Company did not receive specific feedbock at the AGM regording ifs

remuneration proctices.

END OF REMUNERATION REFORT

AMALYSIS OF MOVEMENT IN SHARES

During the year the Company had movement in ifs fully paid ordinary shares as follows:

Crpening balonce 1 Juby 2020

Shoned sdued 1B August 2020 of $000125 per shore

Shares asued 2§ Oclober 2020 of 30014 per share

Shanes ssued 15 Decemiber 2020 ai $0.00 4 per share

Shores wiwed 10 Febooory 2021 ot 300015 per share

Shares isswed 30 June 2021 ol $0.015 per share

Expiration of ophions
Copital roising cosls
Closing bobonce 30 June 202

AMALYSIS OF MOVEMEMT IN SHARE OPTIONS

During the year a number of opfions were granted os follows:

Class

Exercimaide al 150 camls
each on of bafore
00 O 2020

Exarciroblo of 20,0 canls
eoch on of before
0 o F0n0

Exercisoble af 15.0 cents
each on of befone

Io0E 200

Balance

1 July 2020

4,250,000

4,250,000

Humbior 5
350,780,458 Il 738,800
187 480,000 234,000
1.250,000 0,000
234972 544 2897
238,005 3.5
1 000,000 | 5,000
342081
[740,665]
775,851, 440 24,003,455
lssved During  Exercised or expired Balance
Year during year 30 June 2021
[4,250,000]
(4,250,000} -
473,51 4,471 [8%3,515,671) -

Mo person entified to exercie on opfion had or has any right by virtue of the option to

parficipote in any share Bsve of any other body corporate.
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MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

The number of meefings of the Company's Board of Directors during the year ended 30 June
2021 and the number of meefings ottended were:

Hame Eligible to Aflend Attended
M Rodriguez 4 4
M Scivels 4 4
M Morbum 4 4
B Colling 4 4
5 Mathewson 4 3

The Company abo conducied business via Circular Resolufions,
RETIREMENT, ELECTION AND CONTINUATION IN OFFICE OF DIRECTORS

Michoel Scivolo refired by rotafion os a Director af the Annual General Meefing held on 21
Detober 2020 and was re-alected.

Scott Mathewson . having been oppeinted a director by the directors, offered himsell for re-
alection at the Annuval Genearal Meeting held on 21 October 2020 and was re-alected.

Al the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, Michael Norburm, retires by rotation ot a Director
and will offer himself for re-elaction,

RELEVANT INTEREST IN SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Mr Colins held a relevant interest in 420,000 ordinary fully paid shares in the Company a3 at 30
June 2021,

EMVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

The Comparny’s objeciive is 1o ensure that a high standard of envirenmenial care i achieved
and maintgined on all properfies. There are no known environmental issues culstanding.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE

The impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic ik ongeing and it i not proclicable fo
estimate the polential impoct, posifive or negaotive, afier the reporting daote. The situation i
rapidly developing and i dependent on measures imposed by the Australion Government
ond ofher couniries, such o maintaining social distancing requirements. guarantine. fravel
restictions ond any economic stirmulus that maoy be provided,

The Directors are not oware of any matter or circumstance not otherwise dealt wilh in the
report or finoncial sfatement: that has significantly or may significantly affect the operations
of the consolidated enfity, the results of those operations or the sfole of offois of the
comalidated enlity in subsequent financial years.

INDEMHNIFYING OFFICER OR AUDITORS

Mo indemnities have been given, of insurance premiums paid, during or since the end of the
financial yeaor, for any person wheo 5 or hos been an officer or auditor of the entity.
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SHARE OPTIONS
As at the date of this report, there ore nil share options on Bswe.
PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY

No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or
infervene in ony proceedings fo which the Company is o party for the purpose of loking
responsibility on behalf of the Company tor all or any parl of those proceedings.

The Company was not o porty fo any such proceedings during the year.
AUDITOR'S INDEFEMDEMCE DECLARATION

A copy of the independent cuditor's declaration os required by section 307c of the
Corperations Act 2001 | set out on poge 57.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

ke Audl Committes hos bean formed as the Directors belisve that the Company is not of o
iize to justify having o separale Audit Commitiee, Given the small size of the Board, the
Directors belisve an Audit Commitfes struciure to be inefficient.

NON AUDIT SERVICES

The Boord of Directors is satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the year is
compatible with the general stondard of independence for oudifors imposed by the
Corporafions Act 2001, The Directors are satsfied that the services disclosed below did not
compromise the external ouditor's independence for the following reasons:

+ Al non-owdit services ore reviewed ond approved by the Boord prior to
commencement to ensuwre they do not advernsely alfect the integrity ond objectivity of
the auditor; and

s« The noture of the services provided does nol compromise the general principles
relating fo auditer independence in occordance with APES 110: Code of Ethics for
Profesional Accountonts set by the Accounting Professional ond Ethical Sondards
Board,

During the yeor under review, the Company's ouditor, Crowe Perth, also provided serdces in
relafion 1o foxation motters. Details of the amounts paid and payable fo the ouditor of the
company, Crowe Perth and ifs related entities for audit and non-oudif services provided during
the veor aore sat out in Nofe § fo the Fnancial Stotements.

CORPORATE GOVERNAMCE STATEMENT
The Company & committed fo ochieving and demonsirating the highest standards of

corporate governance information abeout the Company's Corporate Governance policies are
set ouf in the Annual Report.

This repart 5 mode in accordance with a resolution of the Directors and Section 298(2) of the
Corporotions Act 2001,
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Daoted this 281h day of September 2021
Perth, Wesiam Ausirola

Caulonary Malement regarding Forward: Logiing infarmalian
This repor confoing lorword-iooking siolamants concaming Golden Deeps Limded. Forward:looking slalermants ong
nat stotemenls of histodcol foct ond octhudl events and reqdts may diffes matesally rom Ehote described in the
tonward-locking staotements g g resull of g vodely of rigks, uncedointies and olher faclon. Fohsond-looking stalements
are irilsiearitly subject 1o buines:, econormic, compelilive. Dol bool ond seciol uncertointies ond conlingencabs. Moy
facion could couss e Company™s octesl results o ditfer modenoly from those expresed o imphed in ony lorseornd-
lpgiing informotion peovided by the Compony, o on beholl of, the Compony. Such laciors Include, omong other
fhengee. nsks relatng 1o oddiional furding mouraments, melol picses, expianalion. Sewsiopmeant ond openaling nsks,
competion, peoduciion sks, reguiaion redicions, nceding envisnmanial reguislion and lobiity and potenhial e
dispules.

Foraond locidng stofemants in ihs document ane bosed on the Compony's beiels, opnicrs and esfimates of Golden
Deeps Lid as of ihe doles the forword-looking dofemenis ore made, ond no obSgoBon i claumed |0 vodabe forwand
looking ilabemants i ihete baliels, apinion and aimales thaold changs or 1o reflact aiier ftuie Sevalopmant

Competent Persen Siolement

The intormatec in (ks repon thal relales o exploralion rendls hos Deen reviesed, complied ong iy repeesenied Dy
W Jonothon Dugdoie. M Dugdaole & 1he Chief Bueculive Officer of Golden Despl Limiled ond o Peliow of the
Ausiraban Irslilule of Mining and Meldiurgy | FAUSMM']. M Dugdale has slliciend expenence, inchding over 34
it EEOSAERcE A explocalion. feioucs evakeclion. mine geclogy ond lnonce, nelevond i the stda ol
mineraliotion and hpe of deposils under consideaton fo qualily of o Compeiend Peson oo delined in the 20037
Egiton f iha Joird Qrg Reserves Commitles ["MORC| Augiroiosion Code for Repording of Explorotion Resully, Mingrols
Resources ond Ore Boserves. Mr Dupgdole corsends to the inclusian in thit repor of the mofen bosad on this
informotian in the form and comlaxt in which il appeon.

Tne Compary condnms od iF B nol owors of any new informodion or dota hal molendly affects the informaton

inciuded n the onginol morke! announcements, The Company confirms Hial the lorm ond conteat in which the
Compelend Person's fingings oe presenied have nof been malenoly modbed om ihe odgnal mankel

EfrE B A

The Company confems that it & not owore of any s nformation or dala Thal mabenoly afects 1he informofon
ncleded in the odgingl morice! onnouncements. The Compony contiems feal The loem ond conhest in which e
Compelent Fenon's lndings o8 pedented hove nol boen molenoly modified Som the coniging maron
GRNDLRCETEnl T

Appendix 1 - Golden Deeps Lid Tenemen! 5chedule os of 30 June 2021

Tenemenl 1D Tenemenl Type durisdiction Frojeci inferes! | Areobkm' | Expiry Dobe
EPLES4% Exclisive Frospeciing Licence | Odos Normebio Aarnks a0% FO.00 &AOT 20D
EFLEETS Exciusive Frospeching Licence | Ofow. Nomibia Abenab Min BIE 13060 E00 202
EPLEZA Enchusve Prospaching Lcence | Ofaw. Mormilbso Crond e 26000 7 VO F0EE
BPL5Z33 Eschuhvn Prosoechng Licence | Otaw, Romibia Earminal Bk B0 &3.00 TIOR3
EPL535a Eachaive Prospecling Licence | Oiovi, Namitsa Agksyold 3 BOR a0 FAOE A0
EL5%43 Explodotion Licenca HEW, fasinolio Tuncksrs HHl 100% 48 00 &1 102004
ELRDh4 Expleralion Licanca MEW, Audtiaho Hiviliak Lo - 34.00 AN FAOE2
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1 X35450 Iirieng Chosmn Sniodo, Canodo | ‘Waldman % GOF | 00T
155118 Mining Cloim Clano, Canado | Waldmaon nom, 0.22 | 301052021
19934 bfining Chaim COnioro, Canodo | Woaldrman i) 0.22 | 301002021
23402 Aineng Choion: Cniano, Canada | Waldman g 001 | HIafam
L IAining Claim Onianio, Conoda | Wokdmean bl 0.22 | 30yi0saae
283242 Iiing Chinn Cndono, Canoda | Waldman FLt 0,22 | W0
FHITFTE Mining Cholmy Onlardo, Canada | Walderman Lt 001 | 3Gs10300
30024 baining Choim Cndano, Conoda | Woldmon bt 0.E2 | 021
AX4ESH Mdining Claim Gnioro, Canado | Waldman Pt 0.F2 | IWI0Aa1
18%303 klning Cloim Onlado, Coanodd | Wohorman TR, o0 | 1Ef 12720
Ariman bining Claim Cndaio, Conodo | Waldmaon b 001 | BSS1RERT
AT IiniEng Chainn Cniono, Canada | Waoldman Lt 000 | 240230
1 S0 AN Tl COniono, Canada | Woldmaon . 0.: 405 HIR
174898 Bining Clasm Gndono, Conodo | Waldman TR, 0uD5 APO5 00D
FATT ining Chinn Cniodo, Canada | Waldman Pk 0.5 405
2ITA5E Mining Claim Onlario, Conada | Woldman b ] il T LT
ANAOAS Anang i Cndario, Canoda | Waldman Fit ] 0,77 | ISIER
HOH57 Miining Cloirm, Onlads, Canada | Waldman FL 3 0.2 | 220420
PO Mining Claim Onitoio, Canodo | Woldmaon % 0. | 2030
LEA-19742 Mining Leosa Oniordo, Carada | Proletsor % 000 | 300300
LEA-1%733 Mining Leoss COniano, Cansda | Prolessor Lt 000 | A0 Ol 00
LEA- 1972 Mining Ledss Cndanio, Conodo | Prolesor Hir% OUOF | 30062002
LEA-19730 Mining Leois Ondoro, Canada | Prolessor L 008 | 300800
LEA: 19579 Mining Lecse Onigio, Conodo | Prolessor FLt 008 | 3080
PAT-30214 hiiring Potenl Ondordo, Canada | Prolewsor R 0.s Mo Expiry
PAT-30213 hilning Podent Cnlade, Canado | Prlessor fox 0.08 Mo Exgiry
PAT-18000 Mining Polent Cndaro, Conoda | Professor FLta 0.0 Mo Expiry
FAT-1¥701 Mining Potent GOniodo, Canoda | Prolassor it REe Mo Expiry
PAT-1%700 Mindng Polend COnlano, Conodo | Frotessor FL ] 0.08 Mo Expiry
PaT-]paee Mining Paen Ondoro, Conodo | Prolesor hr% 0.0 o Expiny
FAT-1 %458 Mining Pofend Oniodo, Canada | Prolesser Lt 0.0 Mo Expiry
Pat-19as8 ddining Polen Ondodo, Conodao | Prolewsor bl ] 0.08 i Expairy
FAT-19874 rhirEng Posterd Ondoro, Conado | Prolessar T 0oF Mo Expiry
PaAT-1 RO Sining Pofen Cilano, Conada | Prodego T, 0.08 o Expriny
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GOLDEN DEEPS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Ine e
Interest eamed

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Hotes

Freceeads received from joint venture portnes

Diher incomes

Expenses

Employee benefils expense
Management fees
Directors’ fees and services
Irnpairment of receivables
Frofesional services
wecuities Bachange fees
Depreciation

Other operafing cosfs

(Loss) before income fax
Income tax
[Loss) after income lax

Other Comprehensive Income, nel of fax
Iterns thal may be subsequently fransfered to profif or loss:
Exchange differences on franslating foreign confrolied

nfifios

Total Comprehensive [Losz), net of fax

Loss for the year affributable to:

Crwners of the parent
Mon-conirolling inferest

Tolal (Loss) for the year, net of tax

Tolal Comprehensive [Loss) for the year attributable to:

Crhweners of the porent
Men-controling interaest

Tetal Comprehensive (Loss), for the year

Earnings per share

Bosic [ Diluted earmings/|lcss) per share 15

Consolidated
2021 2020
] 3
435 345
= 017
25374 34,158
25811 39,620
[&,528) [37.715)
(272,593 |200,484)
{85, 508) [187.840)
{48 083 [50.045)
[196,443) [273.774)
(27.991) (27.748)
= (280
[44.792) [12%.820]
(702 358) ($07.554)
[&76,547) (847 934)
(674,547) (B47 734)
131.084 (242,922
(545.463) (1.110.856)
[445,512] (834,756)
{11.035] {33,178}
[474.547) (B&7.934)
| S60.845) (994, 582
15,182 (116,274
[545.453) {1,110,858)
Cenls Cents
[0.11) (0.32]

Dilvted eamings/(loss) per share have no effect as compared to the Bosic eamings (loss) per share.

The statement obove should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

Cansolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Page Mo, 2T



GOLDEN DEEPS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

Current Assels
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables

Tolal Cumeni Assels

Hon-Currenl Assels
Exploration ond evaluation expendifure
Trade and other receivables
Plant and egquipment

Total Hon-Curent Assels
Total Azsets

Curreni Liabilities
Trode and other poyables
Taolal Cumrent Liobilifies

Hon-Current Liabilifies
Trade and olher payakbies
Total Mon-Curent Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Met Assets

Equity ;
Issuad capital
Foreign curency trandation resarve
ihare Oplion Resarve
Accumulated losses
Farent interests
Mon-contralling interest

Telal Equity

Hotes

L[1

12
13

Consolidated
2021 2020
3 5

3002865 668,598
54,200 37,437
3057 045 706,035
4,259 145 3,738,480
. 4% 257
1.170 1.053
4240315 3,788 %70
7,317,380 4,495 005
259 772 519.224
239,772 517,224
- 1,627,604
239,772 1,627 404
~_2avg72 2146828
7.077 408 2348177
24,003,495 18.728.801
[141,237) |246.104)
- 60,274

[16,443 870) [15.858.632]
7,398,588 2,684,339

[320.980] [336,162)
7,077 608 2,348,177

The statemeant above should ba read in conjunchion with the acccompanying nobes

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Page No. 28
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GOLDEN DEEPS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 320 JUNE 2021

Consolidated
Motes 2021 2020
3 2

Cash flow from operating oclivities

Payments to suppliers and employees [2.642,085) [1.076.433]

Receipis from customers . 22,790

Interest received 435 345

Recaipls from joint venture - ENr

Govermnment grant received 53754 L

Met cash {oulflow) frem operating activilles 14 (2,616,274) 1 795
Cash flow frem invesfing activities

Payments for plant and equipment - {1.307)

Exploration and Evaluation expendifure [284,807) [674,128)

Payments for security deposits [10.000) -

Het cash (eulflow) frem Invesfing activities (274.607) [475,435)
Cash flow from financing aclivities

Proceads from capital raising 5.454,288 2055472

Payments for cost of capital raising {411,740 [11%,4435)

Eepayment of bomowings 10 [l - [&2 0004

Met cash inflow from financing aclivilies 5,245,148 1,874,227
Met increase [ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held A4 AT 175997
Cash and cash equivalents ot the beginning of the financial
yEar 448,578 492,801
Effect of exchange rafes on cash holdings in foreign currencies . =
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 7 3,002 845 468 598

The statement above should be read in conjunchion with the accompanying notes
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Page No. 31



GOLDEN DEEPS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

The financial report of Golden Deeps Limited [the Company) and its subsidiaries [the Group) for the year
ended 30 June 2021 was authorised for issue in accordance with a resclution of the Directors on 28
September 2021.

Golden Deeps Umited is o compaony incorporated and domiciled in Australia, imited by shares which
are publicly traded on the Austrolion Sacurities Exchange.

The notuwre of the operafions and principal octivities of the Group are mineral exploralion and
investrment.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of PFreparalion

The finoncial report is o general-purpose inanciol report, which hos been prepored in occordonce with
the requirernents of the Corporafions Act 2001, Auwtnolion Accountfing Stondards, Australion Accountfing
Interpretations and complies with other reguirements of the low, as appropricte for for-profit cdented
enfities. The finonciol report has also bean prepared on an accrual bass ond on g historical cost bagis,
except for financial assets and liabilities, which have been meosured of fair value.

The finoncial report also complies with Internafional financial Reporfing Mtondards (IFRS).

The financial report & presented In Austrafion dollars.

(b) Mew or Amended Accounting Standards and interprelalions adopled

Mew or amended Accounfing Standards and Interpretations adopled

The consolidated enfity hos adopted all of the new or omended Accounting Stordords and
Interpretations iswued by the Australion Accounting Standords Board [(AASE’) that are mandatory for the
curent reporting period.

Any new of amended Accountfing Slandords or Inferpretations that are not yet mondaotory have not
bean sorly adopled.

The following Accounfing Standards ond Interpretations ore most relevant fo the consolidaoted entity:

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (Concepluval Framework)

The consolidated enfity has adopled fhe revised Conceptual Framework from 1 July 2020, The
Ceonceptual Fromeweork confains new definifion and recognifion critera os wel o3 new guidonce on
measurement that affects several Accounting Standords, but it has not hod a material impact on the
consolidated enfity's financial stotements.

Maotes te the Consolidated Financial Statements Page Mo. 32



GOLDEN DEEPS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

2,

(e}

(d)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

Currenl and non-cument classification

Assets ond liabilities are presented in the statemeni of financial position bosed on curent and
nan-ciarent clasificalion.

An asset s clowified as cument whan: if i either expected to be realised of intended fo be sold o
comsumead in the consclidated enfity's normiol operating cycle: it is held primarily for the purpose of
fradng: it is expecied to be reafised within 12 months affer the reporting pericd: or the asset is cash
of cosh equivalent unless restricled from being exchanged or used fo setfle o Babilty for af least 12
months after the reporfing perod. All other ouets ore clossified os non-curent,

Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements consclidate those of the Parent Company and all of its subsidiarias
o3 of 30 Jure 2021, The Parent confrols a subsidiary if it is exposed, or has rights, fo varoble retums
from its involvement with the subsidiory ond has the abiity fo offect those returns through its power
over the subsidiory. All subsidiaries have a reporiing date of 30 June.

Al transoctions ond balonces between Group companies are eliminated on consoldation,
inciuding unreolized gaing ond loses on ronsoction: between Group companies.  Where
unreghised losses on infra-group assel sales are reversed on consolidation, the underlying ossef i
also tested for impairment from a group perspactive. Amounks reporied in the finoncial statements
of subsidiories have been adjusted where necessary 1o enswre consistency with the occounting
policies adopted by the Group.

Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiones acquired of deposed of during the
year are recognised from the effective dote of acgquisition, or up 1o the efleciive date of deposal,

as opplicable.

Nor-confroling inferests, presenfed as part of equily, represent the portion of a subsidiary's profit or
loss and net assats that iz not held by the Group. The Group affributes lotal comprehensive income
or koss of subsidiaries between the owners of the parent and the non-controliing interests based on
their respective cwnership inferests,

The Group applies the acguisition method in accounting for business combinafions. The
consderation fransfemed by the Group to obtain contral of o subsidiary is calculated as the sum of
the ocquisition-date fair values of assels fronsferred, abiifies incurred and the equily interests ssued
by the Group, which includes the fair value of ony oiset or liobility arsing from a confingent
consideration amangement. Acguisition costs are expersed as incumed,

The Group recagnizes idenfifiable assels ocquired and Bobififie:s asumed in o business combination
regardiess of whather they hove been previously recognised in the acguires’s financial stotermeanis
pricr to the acquisifion. Assefs ocquired and liabilities assumed ore generally measured at their
acquisiion-date for values.

Goodwill is stated ofter separate recognition of identifioble intangible amsets. If i colculoted os the
excests of the sum of [a) far value of consideration fransfemad, [b) the recognised amount of any
non-confrofing interest in the ocquire, and (¢} ocquisifon-date fair value of any existing aguity
interast in the acguiree, over the ocquisition-date fair values of identifioble net assets, If the foir
values of idantficble net assels exceed the sum calculated above, the excess amount [ie. gain
on a borgain purchase] is recognised in profif or loss immediately,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Page Mo, 33



GOLDEN DEEPS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

2.
(d)

(&)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [confinued)
Basis of consolidation [confinued)

Associotes are those enfities over which the Group is able to exert significant influence but which
are not subsidiarias.

Foreign currency lranslalion

Both the funclional ond presentation currency of Golden Deeps Umited, Cerep Ply Lid, Glendale
Aszet Pty Lid, Jewell Corporation Ply Lid, Extract Minerals Ply Ltd ond Tuckers Gold Pty Ltd & the
Austrakan dollor [A%], and fhe funclional and presentation cumency for Huab Energy |Ply] Lid and
Cshivela Mining [Pty) Lid s the Namibian Dollar [N$).

Cash remittances from the parent entity to the Namibion swubsidiones ore sent in Australion Dollors.
Trarsactions in forelgn curencies are inifially recorded in the functional cumency at the exchange
rates ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liobilifies denominated in foreign
cumencies are refransiated at the rate of exchange ruliing at the reporting dote,

Mon-monetary tems that are measured in terms of historicol cost in o foreign curency aré
fransloted using the exchange rate as af the date of the inifial fransaction.

Norn=monatary iems medsured af foir value in o foreign curency are fronslated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fok value was determined.

Az at the reporfing date the assats and iabilities of any overseas subsidianes were fronslated info
the presentation curency of Golden Deeps Limited ot the rate of exchonge niing ot the reporting
date and the statement of Profit or Loss ond Other Comprehensive Incomes are fransloted ot the
average exchange rates for the period.

The exchonge differences orsing on the fromslafion are token directly fo Other Comprehensive
Incorne.,

On disposal of o foreign entity, the defered cumulofive amount recogrised in Other
Comprehensive Income relofing fo that porficulor foreign operation & recognized in the statement
of Profit or Loss.

Recoverable amount of assels

Al each reparting date, the Group assesses whather there is any indication that an osset may be
impoired, Where on indicalor of impairment ewsists, the Group makes a formal estimate of
recoverable omount. Where the camyving amount of an ossel sxceesds its recoverable omount the
asset is considerad impaired and i written down o its recoverable amount,

Recoverable omount is the greater of fair value bess costs to sell and value in use. It s detemmined
for an individual asset, unless the assels value in we cannol be estimaled to be close o ifs foir
value lass costs o sell and it does not generale cosh inflows that ore lorgely Independent of those
frorm other assels or groups of assels, in which cose, the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unif fo which the ossat belongs.

In cssassing value in wse, the estimaled fulure cash flows are discounted fo their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects cument markel assessments of the fime value of money and
the risks specific to the asset.

Hotes to the Consolidated Financlal Statements Page No. 34



GOLDEN DEEPS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

{g) Exploration and Evaluation Expendilure

(h)

U]

Exploration and evalvation expenditure in relation o separate areas of interest for which rights of
tenure are current is comed forvard as an assel in the statement of financial posiion where if s
expected that the expenditwe will be recovered through the successful development ond
exploitation of an area of interest, or by ifs sale; or exploration activities are continuing in on area
and aclivities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable estimate of the existence or
othervise of economically recoverable reserves. Where o project or an area of inferest has been
abandoned, the expenditure incured thereon & written off in the year in which the deciion i
made.

Trade and other recelvables

Trade receivables are initially recognised ot fair value ond subseguently measured of amorticed
cosl wing the effective inferest method, less ony allewonce for expected credil losses. Traode
receivobles ore generally due for seftlement within 30 doys.

The consolidafed entity has opplied the simplified approoch fo measuing expected credit lossas,
which uses o etime exgpected loss ollowance. To meaure fhe expected credi losses, fraode
receivables have been grouped based on days overdue,

Cther receivables are recognised ot amortised cost, less any allowance for expected credit loseas.
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial posifion comprise cash at bank and in
hand and shor-term deposits, For the purposes of the Sotement of Cash Flows, cash and cash
equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of oulstonding bank
ovardrafis,

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obigation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a post event, it s probable that on outflow of resource: embodying economic benefils will be
required to settle the ocblgotion and a relioble astimate con be mode of the amount of the
obligation.

Where the Group expects some or ol of o provision to be reimbursed, for exomple under an
insurance controct, the reimbursement is recognised a8 a seporate asset but only when the
reimbusement & viffually cerfain. The expense relafing to any provision is prasenfed in the
siotermnent of comprehensive income net of any reimburtemeni.

If the effect of the fime value of money B matenal, provisions are daefermined by discounting the
expecied fulure cash flows ot o pre-tax rafe that reflects cument market assessments of the fime
value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where dacounting is used,
the increcse in the provisicn due to the passage of ime is recognised os o finance cost.

Hates to the Consolidated Financlal Statements Page No, 35



GOLDEN DEEPS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

(k) Share-based payment ransactions

il

Equity seftled frarsaciicns:

The Group provides benefits to Direclors, management pernsonnel ond comnsultants in the form
of shore-based paymenis whereby personnel render services in exchonge for opfions fo
purchase shares,

The cost of these equity-satiled fransactions was meoswed by relerence fo the foir value of
the egquity instrumenis ol the date on which they were gronted. The fair volue wos determined
wging the Black Scholes formula,

in valuing equity-setfied fransoctions, no occount is taken of ony periormance condifions,
ofher than condilions inked to the price of the shores of Golden Deeps Umited [market
condifions). The cost of eguity-settied fransoctiors was recognised, fogether with the
comesponding increasa in equity. on the date of grant of the options. The dilufive effect, if any,
of outstanding options is reflecled as addifional shore dilution in the compuiation of earmings
per sharne,

i} Revenve

Revanue is recognised fo the extent thot it is probable thot the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and fhe revenue con be refably measured. The following specific recognilion critena miust
also be met before revenue is recognised:

(i

intarast

Fevenue is recognised as the inferest accrues [using the effective inferest method, which s the
rate that exactly discounts estimaled futwe cash receipls through the expected life of the
financial instrument)] to the net camying amount of the financial asset.

MNotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Page Mo. 36



GOLDEN DEEPS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [confinued)
{m) Income hax

The income fox expense or benelit for the period is the tax payoble on that pericd’s taxoble
income bosed on the applicable income tax rate for each urisdiction, adjusted by the changes
in defered tax assets and liobiities atfibutable fo femporary differences, vnused fax [osses and
the adjustment recognised for prior pericds, where applicable.

Ceferred tax aossets ond kobdities are recognised for temporary differences al the tox rofes
expected fo be appled when the assets are recovered o liabilities are setfled, based on those
tax rates that are enacled or substantively enacted, except for;

& When the defered income fax asset or labity arises from the initial recognifion of goodwill or
an asset or labdity in o fransaction that is nol a business combination and that, at the time of
the trarsoction, offects neither the occounting nor faxoble profits; or

« When the toxable femporory difference is ossocioted with interests in subsidiaries, asscciates
of joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal con be confrolled ard it s probable that the
temporary difference will nof reverse in the foreseeable fulure.

Defered fox assets are recognised for deductible temporary diferences and unused fax losses
only if it is probable that fulure faxoble amounts will be ovoiloble to utike those femporary
differences and losses.

The camrying amount of recognised and unrecognised defered tax assets are reviewed at each
reporting dote, Defermed tox assefs recognized ore reduced to the extent that it is no longer
procbable that future taxable profits will be available for the camying amount to be recovered.
Preaviously unrecognised defered fox assels ore recognised o the extent that it is probable that
there are fulure faxable profits available fo recover the asset,

Delered fox omsets and liobilifies are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right fo
offset cument tax asets ogainst curent fax liobiifies and defered fox assets against defered
tax iabifties; ond they relate to the same faxable authority on either the some taxable entfity o
different taxable anfities which intend to settle simultanecushy.

Golden Deeps Limited [the head entfity] and iis whol-owned awiralion subsidiones hove
formed an income fox consolidated group under the tax consolidafion regime, The heod enfity
and eoach subsidiary in the tax consolidated group continue fo ooccount for thair cwn cumant
ond defered tax amounts. The fox corsolidated group has appled the separale taxpayer
within group’ approach in defermining the oppropriote omount of ioxes to allocate to members
of the fax corsalidabted group.

In addition to its own cument ond defered tax amounts, the head enfity also recognises fhe
cument fox Bakiities [or assets] and the defered fox assefs arising from uniused tax kosses and
unusad fax credifs assumead from each subsidiarny in the fox consolidated group.

Assets or liobilities ansing under fax funding agreements with the lox consolidated enties are
recagnised as amounts receivable from o poyoble to other enfities in the tax consolidated
group, The tax funding armangement ensures that the intercompany charge equal the cument
tox habilty or benefit of each tax consclidated group member, resulfing in neither o confibution
by the head enfity to the subsidiaries nor a distibution by the subsidiones fo the head enfiby.
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GOLDEN DEEPS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

(n)

(e)

(r)

(q)

{r)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [confinued)
Other faxes

Eevenues, expeanses and assels are recognised net of the amount of G3T except:

= where the G3T incured on o purchose of goods and senvice: B not recoverable from the
taxation authorty, 0 which cose the GST & recognized oz part of the cost of ocquisition of
the asset or as parl of the expense hem o3 opplicoble; and

" receivables and poyables are stoted with the amount of GIT inchuded.

The net amount of G5T recoverable from, of payable o, the taxalion authority b included os port
of receivobles or poyables in the Statement of Rnancicl Position.

Ceash flows ore included in the Stotement of Cosh Flows on o gross bass and fhe GST component
of cash flows arising from investing and financing aclivities, which is recoverable from. or poyable
to, the taxation authordity, are closified as operaling cash flows.

Commitments and confingencies are disclosed net of the omount of G3T recoverable from, or
payable lo, the taxafion authorty,

Trade and other payables

Trade payables and other payables are camed of amortized costs ond represent iobilifies lor goods
and service: provided fo the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise
when the Group becomes obliged o make future poyments in respect of the purchase of these
goods aond services,

Confributed equily

Ordinary shares are clossified as equity. Incremental costs direclly aftributable to the Bsue of new
shares or oplions ore shown in equily o5 o deduction, net of fax, from the proceeds.

Earnings per share

Basic eomings per share is calculated as net profit!|loss) ottibutoble to members of the parent,
divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

Diluted earmnings per share is calculated as net profit/[loss] atfibutable to members of the parent,
adjusted for:

= fhe after fax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares
thot have been recognised as expenses; ond

= piher non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result
from the diution of poteniial ordinary shares divided by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares and dilutive potenfial ordinary shares, adjusted for ary bonus element,
Comparatives

Cerfoin comporalives have been reclossified where necessary fo be comsisfent with the curent
yaar's disclosuras.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [confinued)
Current and non-curment classification

Assefs and laobilifies ore presenfed In the statemant of financial position based on curent and non-
current clossification.

An assel is clossified as cument when: it & either expected to be realised or infended to be sold or
consumed in the conselidated enfity’s normal operating cyvcle; it is hald primarily for the purpose of
frading; it is expected fo be realised within 12 months affer the reporing period; or the assetis cash
of cash equivalent unbess resticted from being exchanged or used to settle a liobility for af least 12
months after the reporiing period. All other assets are classified as non-cumrent.

A liobility is classified as cument when: it is either expected to be settied in the consolidated enfity’s
normal operaling cycle: it is held primarily for the purpose of frading; it is due to be setfied within 12
manths affer the reporing perod; or there 5 no unconditional right to deler the setflement of the
iability for ot least 12 months ofter the reporfing period. All ofher liabilifies ore clossified as non-
cumant.

Defered tox ossets and bobdifies are ahvays classified os non-curent.

Operating segments

Operating segments are pretented wing the ‘management approach’, where the inforrnation
presented is on the some bosis o3 the infernal reports provided fo the Chief Operating Decision
Makers [[CODM]. The CODM is responsible for the allocation of resowces to operaling segments
and oisassing their perlormance.

Joint ventures

A joint venture & o joint omangemeant whereby the parfies thot hove joint contrad of the
arangement have rights to the net assets of the orangement. Invesiments in joint ventures ore
accountad for using the equity method. Under the equity method, the share of the profits or losses
of the joint venture is recognised in profit or loss and the share of the movements in equity s
recognised in other comprehensive income. Invesiments in joint ventures are comed in the
statement of financial position af cost phes post-acguisition changes in the consclidated entity's
share of net assets of the joint venlure. Goodwill relaling to the joint venture s included in the
camying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impaiment.
Income eamed from joint veniure enfifies reduce the camying amaount of the investment.

Joint cperations

A joint operafion & o joint orangement whereby the porfies that hove joint contral of the
arangement have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liobilities, relating to the arangement.
The consolidated enfity hos recognised ils share of joinfly held assets, lobilifies, revenues ond
expensas of joint operations. These have been incorporated in the financial statements under the
oppropriate clossificafions.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinved)

Investments and other finoncial assels

Irvesiments and other finoncial ossets are initially measured at fair value, Tronsaction costs are
included as part of the inifial measwrement, sxcept for financial assets ot fair valve through profit
or loss. Such assets are subsequently measuwred at efther omorfised cost or fair value depending on
their classification. Classificafion s determined based on both the business model within which such
assels are held ond the controctual cosh flow characterstics of the financiol assef unless, an
eccounting mismatch i being avoided.

Financial astels are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired or have been
franslered ond the consclidated enfity has transferred substantially all the rsks and rewaords of
cwnernhip, When there s no reacsonable expectation of recovering parf or all of a finonciol osset,
it's camying value is written off.

Financial cssets of foir volue through profit or loss

Fmnoncial assets not meaosured ot amortised cost or ot fair value through other comprehensive
income are classified as financial assets af fair value through profit or loss. Typicolly, such financiol
assets will be either: (i) held for frading. where they are acquirad for the purpose of seling in the
shiort-term with an infenflon of moking a profit, or o dervalive; or [il) designated a3 such upon inifial
recognition where permitted. Fair value movements are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assefs al fair value through other comprehensive income

Fnancial ossefz of foir value through other comprehensive income include eguity Invesiments
which the consolidoted enfity infends to hold for the foreseeable future and has imevocably
elected fo classily them os such upon inifial recagnition,

fmpairmen! of financial assels

The comcldated enfity recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on finoncial asseds
which ore either measwed af amortised cost or ok value through other comprehensive income.
The measurement of the kois allowance depends upon the consolidated enfity’s assessment ot the
end of each reporting period as to whether the financial instrument’s credit risk has increased
significantly since inilial recognition, based on reasonable ond supportable information that is
available, without undue cost or effort fo obiin,

Where there has not been a significant increase in exposune to credit sk since inifial recognifion, o
12-month expected credit loss allowance is esfimated. Tha represents a porfion of the asset's lifetime
expected credit losses that i ottributable 1o o defoult event that is possible within the next 12
months. Where a financial asset has become credit impaired or where it is determined that credit
risk has increased significantly, the loss olowance & basad on the asset’s iletime expected credit
loues. The amount of expected cradit loss recognised s measured on the basis of the probabiity
weighted prasent value of anficipaled cash shortfalls over the life of the insrument discounted ot
the orginal effectve interast rofe,

For finoncial ossets measured at for volue through other comprehensive income, the loss
cliowance is recognised within other comprehensive income, In all other cases, the loss allowance
is recognised in profil or los.
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(z)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (confinued)

Bomowings

Loans and bomowings are inilially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of
transaction costs. They are swbsequently measured af amorised cost wiing the elfective inferest
meathod.

The component of the convertible notes that exhibils charactendstics of a llability i recognised as o
liability In the statement of financial position, net of rarmaction costs,

On the issue of the convertible notes the fair value of the liabilty component is deferminad using a
market rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond and this ameunt is comed as o non-cument
liobilty on the amorfized cost bosls unfil exdinguished on conversion or redemplion, The increase in
the lobiity due fo the pasoge of fime & recognized os o finance cost. The remainder of the
procesds are allocated fo the conversion option that i recognised and included in shareholdars
equity o5 a convertible note reserve, net of ransachion costs, The carving amouni of the conversion
option i not remeosured in the subsequent years, The comesponding interest on converfible notes
is expansad to profit or loss,

Employes benefifs

Shart-term employee benefifs
Liakifties for woges ond salanes, including non-monefary benefits, annual leave and long service
leave expected fo be setfled whaolly within 12 months of the reporting dofe are measwed of the
amounts expected to be poid when the liabilities are setfled.

Fair valve measurement

When an assel or iability, inoncial or non-financial, s mecsured of fair value for recognition or
disclosure purposes, the foir valve s based on the price thot would be received fo sell on ouset or
paid fo transfer a liobiity in an orderdy tronsoction beftween market parficiponts af the
measurement dalfe; and assumes thal the fransaction will take place either: in the principal market;
arin the absence of a principal mardet, in the most advaniagecus market.

Fair value is meaosured wing the assumplions that market parficipants would vse when pricing the
assel of ability, assuming they act in thelr economic best inferests, For non-financial assels, the far
value megsurement is bosed on ifs highest ond best use, Vaoluation fechnigues that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data ore ovaoilable fo meaosure fair volue, are used,
maximising the uee of relevant cbhservable inputs and minimising the use of unobsersable inputs.

Azzefls ond liabilifies meosured of foir value ore clossified into three levels, using a fair value higrarchy
that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the meosurements. Classifications are
reviewed of ecch reporing date and fronslers bebween levels ore defermined bosed on a
recuesment of the lowest level of input that i sgnificont fo the fair volue measurement,

For recuming and non-recuming for walue meoswrements, external valuers may be wed when
infermal expertise it eifher not availoble or when fhe valualion is deemed o be significant. Exfernal
valyers are selected based on market knowledge and reputafion. Where there is o significant
changea in fair vaolue of an assat or licbility frorm one pericd 1o anoather, an aralysis B undertocken,
which includes a verfication of the major inputs applied in the latest valuation and a comparison,
where applicable. with external sources of dala.
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Significant Accounfing Judgments, Estimates and Assuvmptions

The preparation of the financial siatements reguires management fo make judgements, estimates
and assumplions that affect the reporded amounts in the finoncial stotements. Manogement
continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in relotion fo assets, Bablities. confingent
Fabiifies, revenue and expenses. Management bases ifs judgements, esfimotes ond asumplions
on historical experience and on other various focton. including expectations of future events,
management believes o be recionable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting
judgements and estimates wil seldom equal the reloted octual results. The judgements estimates
ond ossumplions thot have a significant sk of cousing o material adjustment to the comying
amounts of assats and liabilities [refer o the respective notes) within the next finaoncial year are
discussed balow.

Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions made by management in the preparation of
thase financial statements are culined below:

fi) Sgnificant occounting judgments include:
{a] Exploraltion and evoluation expeanditura
The Group determings whether explorafion ond evaluation expenditure & impaired on of
leait on annuval bosls bored on historical information ond best availoble curent
information, This reguires an esfimafion of the varows technical faciors of fulure cosfs
which may be incumad in rehabitating explonation sites.

(B Shore Based Poyments

The consolidated enfity measures the caost of equity-settied fransacticns with employees
by reference to the fair volue of the equity instruments af the date ot which they are
granted. The fair value is determined by wing Black-5choles model taking into account
the terms and condifion: upon which the Instruments were granted. The occounfing
estimates and assumptions reloting to equity-settied share-bosed payments would hove
no impact on the camving amounts of assets and liabilities within the next onnual
reparting perod but may impact profit or loss and equily.

[d) Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic

Judgement has been exerciied in comidering the impocl: thot the Coronovius
[COVID-17] pondermic hos hod, or may hove, on the Group based on known
information. This consideration extends to the noture of the producks and services
offered, customers, supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the Group
operates. Other than as addressed in specific notes, there does nol cumently oppear fo
be either ony ggnificont impoct upon the finoncial slotements or any significant
uncertamnties with respect to events or conditions which may mpoct the Group
unfaveurably os af the reporfing date o subsequently as a result of the Coronavinus
[COVID-17] pandamic,
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4, Income Tax

Consolidated
2021 2020
The prima focie fax on profil from ordinary activilies belfore 5 s
incame lax is reconcied fo the income tax as follows:
Prima focie fax payable/{credil] on profit from orginal
activifies before income tax af 30% (2020; 27.5%) 1202 744) {240, 380)
Add:
Te effect of:
Other non-allowable items 23,935 4% Ta7
Oiher cuenable e B3
Cither cllowable deductions -
Defered tax assat not broaught to account 183,147 222971
4.138 12, 441
Less:
Tax effect of:
Effective overseas fax rate [4,138) [12.441)
{4,138) [12.441)
income fax aliributable to enfity .
Urrecognised defered fax assets:
- Tax lotses: ravenue 2,475 415 2242375
- Tax losses: capital 48.778 48,778
= Temporary differences ERS. 158 447,010
= Foraign tax losses 85,104 BS, 104
ail HIIISS 2843 247
Unrecognised defered tax labities 104 0B 81807

The benedits Fom unrecognised deferad tax assets will only be oblained if:

[i) The companie:s derve fulure oesesable income of o nofure and of an amount sufficient fo
enable the benelit from the deduction for the losses o be realised:

(i) The companies confinue to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by the Law:
and

(] Nochongesintox legisliation adversely affect the companies in realizsing the benefits from the
deductions for the losses.
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5. Auditors’ Remuneration

Consofidated
2021 2020
3 -]
Remuneration of the auditor of the parent enfity, Crowe Perth
- audifing or reviewing the financial report 16,900 12,000
- taxation services provided by a related practice of the audifor 3,735 3,525
Remuneralion of other auditors of subsidiones for,
- guditirgg of reviewing the finoncial reports of subsidianies 11,678 14,237
32,533 31,862

&.  Remuneralion ol Key Manogemeni Personnel (KMF)

Refer to the Remuneration Report contained in the Directors’ Report for Details of the remunerafion
paid or payable fo each member of the Group’s key management personnel for the year ended 30
Jurne 2021,

The totals of remuneraticn paid o KMP during the yeor are as follows:

Short-term employves benefits B2, 744 184,215
Superannuation 2,742 1,445
85,708 187,440

7. Ca:h and Cash Equivalents

Represented by:
Caosh ot bank 3,002 BaS5 £48 598

Deposits

:_nu-:,u; 448,598

8. Trade and Other Receivables

Current Assets

Trade debtor - 27 B49

Less aliowance lor expecied credi losses - |27 E47)

Othet receivables 54.200 37,437
54 200 A7 437

Mon-Cunrent Assets

CHher receivables - 49 257
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¥. Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure

Consalidated
2021 2020
| 5 5
Cpening balance 3,738,640 3,262,304
Exploration and evaluation expenditure (including foreign
curency exchange differences) 520,485 454,354
Value of securifies isved to acquire tenements - 20,000
Write off exploration and evaluation expenditure - -
4,259,145 2,738,880
Exploration and evaluation expenditure projects
Exploration and evaluation expenditure - Namibia 4,254,668 3,738,660
Expleration ond evaluation expenditre - Canada 4 477 5
4,257,145 3,738,660
10. Trade and Other Payables
Trade Payables
Consolidated
2021 2020
3 5
Current
Trade payabiles 239,772 517,489
Other payobiles - 1.735
239,772 519,224
HNon-Current Liabilities
Defered frade payables . 1,627 &04
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11. Isswed Capital

Dale Details Hm:‘bl-r Amount
Shares i
30 June 2017 Balance 212,080,78% 14,772,574
19/08/2019  Conversion of opfions 1,300,000 19.500
27 /082017 Convarsion of oplions 1.410.000 74,150
29/08/2019 Conversion of oplions 21 387 000 390,805
O2010/2019 ksue of shores ot $0.024 41,344,155 1,075,000
297112019 ksue of shares ot $0.024 2,884,515 75,000
13/05/2020 Issue of shares ot $0.008 70,152,140 E&L T
Captthal raising costs = (119 445)
30 June 2020 Baolance 350.760.69% 18,728 801
18/08/2020 lssue of shares ot $0.0125 187,680,000 2,344,000
27/10/2020 Issue of shares at $0.014 1,250,000 20,000
15/12/2020 lssue of shares at 30,014 234 ¥22.646 3288917
1002/ 2021 lssue of shares at $0.015 238,075 3.571
30/04/2021 Corversion of opficns 1.000,000 15,000
Expiration ol opfions 342,071
Copital raising costs [740, 665
30 June 2021 Balonce 775,851,440 24,003,695

The Company’s capital consists of Crdinary Shares. The Company does not have a limited amount of
authorised capital. The shares have ne par value and are entifled to participate in dividends and the
proceads on any winding up of the Company in proportion fo the number of Shores held.

Al shareholders” meefings each lully paid Crdinary Share i enfifled fo one vote when a poll is callad,
atherwize each shomeholder has one vole on a show of hands,

Capital Manogement

Management controls the capital of the Group in order to maintain a good debt to equity ratio and
to ensure that fhe Group con fund its operotions ond continue as a going concem.

The Group's debl and capiial includes ordinary share copital, supported by financial assets.
There are no extemally mposed capstal requiremeants.

Management effecfively manages the Group's coplfal by assessing the Group's financial risks ond
adjusfing its capital sfruciure in resporse to changes in these risks and in the market,

There have bean no changes in the strotegy odopted by management to control the capital of the
Group sinca the prior yeaor,
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12. Share Oplion Reserve

Humber Amount
Date of

Cplions 5
30 June 2017 Balance 47 800,000 &4 205
19 August 2019 Opftions converied (1,300,000}
27 August 2019 Cptions converted {1.610,000]
2% August 2009 Cpfions converted (21,387,000 -
31 August 2019 Option: expired (15,003,000 3,931)
30 June 2020 Balance 8. 500,000 &0,274
| September 2020 Options expired [8.500.000) (60,27 4)

30 June 2021 Balance % =

ANALYSIS OF MOVEMENT IN OPTIONS

During the year, opfions were exercised, expired and were granted as follows:

Class Balance Issued During Exercised or Balance

1 July 2020 Year expired during 30 June 2021

yeor

Exercisable al 15.0 cenfs each
on or before 0108/2021 4,250,000 - (4,250,000 -
Exercioble at 20.0 cants each
on of before 010972021 4,250,000 . [4.250,000) -
Exercizable ot 15.0 cents each
on or before 30/04/2021 - AF3.514.6F]1 |693.516,471) -
Total 8,500,000 493,514,691 (702,014,6%1)

The weighted average exercize price of the options on hand atf year end is 0.0 cents [2020: 17.5 cents].

The remaining contractual life of the options culstanding at the end of the yeaor is o weighted average
of 0.0 years [2020: 0.17 vears].

Mo person entifled fo exercise on option hod or hos any right by viflue of the oplion o porficipate in
any share issue of any other body corporate.

Motes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Page Mo. 47



GOLDEN DEEPS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

12. Share Opfion Reserve [confinued)

Summary of Oplions Granted

The following table sets out the number ond weighted average exercise price (WAEF] of. ond
maovemearnts in, share options granted during the year or pror years:

2021 20N 2020 2020
Humber WAEP MNumbaer: WAEF
[cents) [cents)
Outstanding at beginning of yeor 8,500,000 17.5 47,800,000 4.8
Gronted duing the year 473,514,671 15.0 . -
Expired during yeor [701.016.891) (1508 (15.003.000) [1.5]
Exercised during the year {1.000.000) 150 [24,277.000] [1.5]
Ouishanding af the end of the year . = B,500,000 17.5
13. Accumulated Losses
2021 2020
3 3
Accumulated losses af the beginning of the vear [15,858.432) {15.027.807)
Less for vear [665.512) (B34, 758)
Expiration of oplions &0.274 3,731
Accumulated losses ot the end of the financial year (16,453 B70) (15858,632)
14. Cash Flow Informatlion
2021 2020
] 3
Reconcilialion of Cazh Flow from operations with Less atter fax
Opearating (ko) alter income hax: [645.512) (834.754)
MNon-cash lows in eperaling loss:
Depreciation 20
shore based payments expense =
Urrealised [gains) f losses on foreign exchange movements [21.983) (133,177
Expected credit loss provision 68,083 50.045
Explorction mposmeant =
Mon-confroling interest in koss [11,035) [33.178)
Changes in assefs and labifies:
Decrease/(increqse) in receivables 42 492 2F 542
[Decreasel/increasa in frode & other poyvables (2.028,319) [B8%.547)
[Decrecse)/increase in provasions - {11594]
Mel cash Nlows (vzed in) operating activities (2,616,274) [1.022,7%5)
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15. Earnings per share

2021 2020
Humber Humber
Weighted average number of shares on issue during the financial
yeor uied in the calculation of basic earnings per share &41, 490575 274,053,102
2021 2020
Profit/[loss) per share = canis- Basic and Divted [0.11] [0.32)

14, Financial Instruments
[o] Interest Rate Risk
The consolidated enfity's exposwre to interest rate risk, which i the sk that a finoncial

instrument's value will fluctuate as o result of changes in moarkel inferest rates ond the
effective weighted average interest rates on these financial assets and financial kobilities, is

as follorws:
Consclidated Group Floating Inkerest Rate Non-Inferest Bearing Tatal
2021 2020 2021 2020 202 2020
3 3 3 5 3 5
Financial Assefs:
Cash and cash eguivalents 3,002,845 448,598 - = R 00ZB&S A48 598
Trade and other receivables - - 54,200 B2.694 24,200 B2.6%4
Total Financial Assets 3,002 BAS A48 598 54,200 B2.694  3.057.045 751292
14, Financial Instruments (confinued)
Financial Liabilities (ol
amorfised cost):
Trade and other payables . - [239.772)  [2,144.828) [239.772] ([2.146.828)
Tolal Financial Liabilities - - [239.772]  (2.146.828) [239.772)  (2,144.828)
MHet Financial Assets a.mg.us b&8 578 (1 BE,E?E] 4,134 817 3%3 1,3%5 534
{b)  Credit Risk

The rmasirmurm exposure fo credif risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security,
at reporting dale to recognised financial assets is the camying amouni of those ossels, net
of any pravision for doubthud debls, as disclosed in the Consclidated Staterment of Financiol
Pesition and noles fo the financial report,

The consolidated entity does nol have any motedal credit isk exposure o any single debtor
of group of debfors under financial instruments entered into by the consclidated entiby.
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14. Financial Inshuments (continued)

=

id)

le)

Med Falr Volues

The camying amount of finoncial assets and financial liabilifies recorded in the finoncial
staternents represent their respective net foir values determined in accordance with the
accounfing policies disclosad in Mote 2 to the financial statements.

Financial Risk Moanagement

The Group's financial instruments consist mainly of depcsits with recognised banks. accounts
receivable and occounts pavable. Uiguidity & monoged, when sufficient funds ore
available, by holding sufficient funds in o cument account fo service cument obligations and
surplus funds invested in bank higher interest bank accounts, The Directors analyse interest
rate exposure and evaluate treasury manogement strafegies in the context of the maost
recent economic condifions and forecasts, The main risks the Group i exposed fo through
its financiol instruments are the depository banking institution itself, holding the funds, and
interest rates. The Group has no exposure fo foreign cumency risks. The Group's credit risk is
minimal, as being on exploration company, no goods are sold, or services provided, for
which considerafion i cloimed, Risk management on the Group's investments B ochieved
by mainigining o chose watch on market conditions os they apply to the investee
COMmponies.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidlity risk arises from the possibility that the Group might encounter ditficulty in setfling its
debts or otherwise meeting its cbligations reloted to financial liob#ties. The Group manages
the risk through the following mechanisms:

preparing forword locking cash flow analysis in relation to its operational, investing
and financing activifies:
maintaining a reputable credit profile;

- managing credit risk reloted to finoncial assets;

- only nvesting surplus cash with major finoncial institutions: and comparing the
maturity profile of financial lloblifies with the realisation profile of financial assets.

The faobles bBelow reflect on undiscounted controctual moturily onobysis for finoncial
iabilties,

Cash flows reclized from financiol assets reflect management's expectation os to the fiming
of realisation. Actual fiming may therefore differ from that disclosed. The timing of cash flows
presented in the table o settie finoncial labilifies reflects the earfiest contractual settlement
dales.

Consclidaled Group Within 1 year 110 5 years Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
i 5 i 3 i $

Financial Liobilities = Due for

Payment

Trade and other poyables [239.772]  |519.224) - [1.637 804) [239.772] [2.144828)
Total Expected Oulflows [239.773)  [519.224) . [1.427 804) [23%.772] [2.145828]
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14. Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial Assets:

Cash ond cosh eguivalents 3,002,845 &&8.598 . - 3,002, 8465 668,578
Trade and other receivables 54,300 33.437 - 49,257 54,200 82654
Total anficipated inflows 3,057 045 702,035 - 49.257  3.057.085 751 292
Net (oulflow) / inflow on

financial instruments 2817293 182,811 - (1.578.347) 2817293 (1395535)

il Sensifivity Analysis

Inferest Rate Risk, Foreign Curency Risk and Price Risk

The group has performed sensifivity analysis relafing to it exposure 1o inferest rale sk,
foreign cumency risk and price risk at reporfing date. This sensifivity analysis demonstrates
the effect on the curent year results and equity which could result from a change in these
risks,

interest Rafe Sensitivity Analysis
Al 30 June 2021, the elfect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the interest rote,
with all ofher variobles remaining constant would be minimal:

Consolidated
2021 2020
$000 5000
Change in profil
Increcse in inferest rofe by 2% 34 i1
Decraase in interest rafte by 2% (&) (it
Change in Equity
Increqasze in inferest rote by 2% a4 11
Decreose in inferest rate by 2% [3&) (11}

Foreign Curency Risk Sengfivity Analysis

There & minimal foreign curency risk as insignificant balances of foreign curency are held,
Frice nisk

Price risk relafes to the risk that fhe fair value or future cash fows of a fincncial instrument wil
fiuctuate becouse of changes in markel prices lorgely due to demand and supply factors
for commodities.

The Group & oo exposed fo securfies price mtk on investments held for troding or for

medium o konger ferms. Such risk is manoged through divessification of investments across
industies ond geographical locations.
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17. Invesimenl in conlralled enfities

Hame of Enfity Counfry Class Equity Book Value Conlribution fo
of of Shares Holding of Investment Consolidated
Incorporation (%) Result
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
= 4 o - 4 %
Cerep Piy Lid Australio Crdinary 100 100 - - -
Glendale assel Phy Lid Australio Ordinary 100 100 1474158 1474158 . =
Jewel Corporgtion Phy Lid Australio Crdinary oo 100 - - =
Huab Energy Py Lid Kamibio Crdinary &0 B0 - - [52.342) |59.483)
Oishivela Mining Phy Ltd Mamibia Ordinary 80 80 - - (2.834) [43.473)
Cobalt Resources Inc Canada Circlingry 103 100 | i - -
Exiract Minerals Pty Lid Ausirabio Cirdinairy 100 10 59,745 59745 - E
Tuckers Gold Piy Lid Australio Ordinary 100 100 100 100 -

18. Related Parties

The Group's related parties include its subsidiones, key manogement and others os described
below. Unless otherwise staled, none of the fronsoctions incorporate spacial terms and condifions
and Ao guarantess were received or given.

Reloted Forty Eelafionship

Huab Energy (Fly) Lid Swbaldiony
Oshivala Mining |Phy) Lid  Swbsidiony

COmmon

Sobre Rescarces Lid Sreciorshio
3 Cammon

Mabok Austalio Lid cirmclorshi

Hafure OF
Transaction

Loon adwonces
Loan odvanced

Creological expenses

rec o
Gealogicol incame
reCerivied

Year ended
30 June 2021

Transacion Balance

(208.433)
14.578)

2123141
TPB.058

Yeor ended
30 June 2020

Transachon Bolonce

{468,053) 1,904,708

[29.982] 793,440

(&40 4) {10, 478]
8,181

Parficulors of key monagement personnel compensation ond share opfion holdings are disclosed in

Mote &,

19. Segment Reporting
Identification of Repariable

Segments

The Company has identfified its operoting segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed
aond wsed by the Boord of Directors [chief cperating Secision makers) in assessing performonce and
determining the allocation of resources. The Company is managed on the basis of its development
and exploration of the group's mineral inferests in the gecgraphical regicns of Narmibia and
Canada, and its corporate aclivities in Ausirala,
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1%. Segment Reporting (confinued)
segment Pedormonce = June 2021

Revenuve
Interasi revenue
Ofher iIncome

Tetal Group revenus

Segment profit/{loss)
Managemen! Fees - unrelated parties
Corponale overheods - unreloled porlies

Tolal Group profit/{loss)

Segment assels

Cash and casth edquivalenis

Exploration ond evaluation expendifure
Trode and olher receivabbes

Fiani and egquipment

Tetal Group assets

Segment labilities
Trade and other poyables
Tolal Graup llabiities

Segment Ferformance - June 2020

Revenus

Joint ventura income
Inleres] revenue
Oiher income

Talal Group revenue

Segmeni profit/(loss)

mMonagement Fees = unredatecd parties

Corporale overbeinods - unmeloled portias
Depreciation

Impairment of exploration and evaluation aisets
Share based poymeants

Tolal Group prolil/(loss)

Segment oizets

Cash and caih equivalents

Exploralion and evaluation expendiure
Tradche and olher receivables

Flant and eguipmeant

Total Group assets

Segment Habilifles
Trade and cther poyables

Tolal Group llabilifles

Autiralla Hamibia Canada Total
5 $ $ $
435 - 435
20,376 25.374
25811 25811
(272 5%3) - |£72.593)
(374 58F) {55, 1 74] {429 7 45]
(&21.371) [55.174) (676 54T)
2942 837 40,228 - 3,002 865
= 254648 4477 4,259,145
54,500 - - 54,200
1,10 - 1,170
3016837 4295045 4477 7317 380
1113,4834) [ 134 138) {239, 773)
[113.434) [12&,138) (23%,772)
Australio Homibia Canado Total
-] ] ] 5
- 507 - 5117
345 - - 345
34,158 - 34,158
34,5003 817 A9.&20
(200,484 - (200, 484)
| 540.887) [1&5.6%1) (#0780
€ {2%0) [Fai]]
{704,870) (141,044) - (847, 934)
458, 784 PAI2 &8 598
- 3738460 3,738,440
B, 674 - L 474
. 1.053 1.053
745 480 3,749 325 4495 005
[2.134.086) (10,7421 : (2.1 46928
(2.13&088) (10, 742) - (2.144,828)
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0. Commilments

21.

[l Mining Tenements

In New South Wales, Australia, the Company holds inferests in two Exploration Licences (ELs).
There ofe no confractual exploration commitments specified by the New South Woles
Depariment of Mining, Exploration and Geoscience [MEG).

In Momibia the Company holds inferests in five Exclusive Prospecting Licences [EPLs). Thene
ara no confraciual exploration commiiments specified by the Namibion Ministry of Mines and
Ervergy.

On the Professor property in Ontario, Canada, the Company holds 10 freehold patents that
inciude surface and mining Aghts and do nof iIncur expenditure commitments. The Company
also holds 5 mining leases at Professor that require expenditure of C$4,400 per 16Ha or
C%11.000 in fotal prior to the next renewals during 2022/ 23,

At the Waldman property, in Ontario, Canada, the Company has a 70% inferest in 19 Mining
Claims. The claims incur a fotal explorafion expendifure commitment of $5.800 per anmum,

(i) Management Agreement

The Company hos an ogreement with o sarvice company for the provision of services at
$2B8.000 [excluding G5T) per annum plus CPl. Chorges ore of commercial ferms in
accordance with the ogreemeant entered into on 11 May 2021 for o pericd of one year from
1 May 2021, within renewaobba one yeor periods of the cessation of the inificl one year ferm,

Confingent Liabiliies

O 29 June 2012 the Company ocguired all the issued shore copital of Glendale Asset Ply Lid
[Glendaole] and Jewel Corporafion Pty Lid (Jewall), and these companies hald an B0% interest in
Hamibian companies that hald various mining rights, Terms of fhe fransaction include the ssue of a
further 25 million shores on achieving infered JORC resowrce from either the Huab or Oshivelo

Projects.
Events Subsequent fo Reporting Dale

The impact of the Coronavinus [COVID-19) pondemic is ongoing and it 5 not proclicable to
esfimote the potentfial impact, posifive or negative, ofter the repording date, The sifuation is rapidly
developing and i dependent on measures imposed by the Awirolon Government ond other
countries, such as maintaining social distancing requirements, quorantine, fravel restrictions and
any economic stimulus that may be provided.

The Director are not awane of any mather of crcumstance nof oftherwise deolt with in the report or
financial stotemenis thal hos dgnificontly or may significontly affect the operations of the
consolidated enfity, the results of those operations or the state of offairs of the comsolidated entity
i swbsequent financiol years,

Hotes o the Consolidated Financial Staterments Page MNo. 54



GOLDEN DEEPS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

23, Parent Enfity Information

The following details information related fo the parent enlity, Golden Deeps Umited, of 30 June
2021, The information presented here hos been prepored wing consistent accounting policies as
shown in Note 2,

Farent Enfity
2021 2020
3 3
Assel
Cument assets 3,018,837 A94.423
Mon-cument assets 4 OF8 497 &, 787,840
Tolal Assels 7115334 4,484 263
Liabilifles
Current liabilities 113,634 508,482
Non-current Babiitias . 1627 604
Total Liabilifies 113. 634 2,134,084
Equity
lssued copital 24,003 495 18,728.801
Share Optfion resere - 60,274
Accumulated losses |17,001,995) {14,440,8578)
Tolal Equity 7,001,700 2348177
Financial Pedermance
Profit/[loss) for the year [621,371) (740, 374
(621,371} (940,3%4)

Mo guarantees have bean enfered info by the parent entity on behalf of ifs subsidiany.
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GOLDEN DEEPS LTD
DIRECTORS DECLARATION

in fhve opinion of the Directons of Golden Deeps Limited [ihe “Company™):

faa)

(=}

e

the financial statements ond noles sel out on poges 27 1o 55 and Ihe Remuneration
Reporl deciosures thot are conlained in pages 19 1o 22 of the Remuneralion Reporl
i the: Directors’ Repod, are in accordance with the Comporations Act 2001, including:

[ giving afrve and folr view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and
of its parfarmonce, tor the financial year ended on thal dale: and

i} complying with Ausiralion Accounting Slandords [incheding fhe Australion
Accounting interprefalions) ond the Corporations Regulations 2000: and

[#) complying wilh Intemalional Finoncial Reporling Standards as disciosed in Note
X,

the remunerafion disclouses thal are contained in poges 19 o 22 ol the
Remuneralion Repord in the Dveclons’ Reporl comply wilh Ausiralian Accounting
Standord AASE | 24 Related Parly Disclosures: and

Iharauemmuagmwﬂﬂubuiwerhuﬂhaﬁmmyﬂhamhmym
debis as and when they become due and payable,

he Direciors have been given the decioralions required by Seclion 2954 al The Corporafions
Act 2001 for the fincncial year ended 30 June 2021.

Sigred in occordonce wilh a resoluion of the Diecbors:

e

Michoel Rodriguez
DIRECTOR

Dated this 30th day of September 2021
Perlh.
Western Australic

Diveciore’ Declaration Page Mo, 56



Crowe

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY SEAN MCGURK TO THE DIRECTORS OF GOLDEN
DEEPS LIMITED

As lead auditor for the audit of Golden Deeps Limited for the year ended 30 June 2021, | declare that,
to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been;

(a) mo contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
redation to the audii, and

(b} no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduwet in relation to the awdit,

This declaration is in respect of Golden Deeps Limitad and the entities it controlied during the year,

(e fodle

Crowe Perth

Sean McGurk
Partner

Signed at Perth, Western Australia

30 September 2021

Fingex (Aust) Py Lid rradng as Crowe Auifralsia & o mamber of Crowe Ginbal, 8 SRS veeen Each membey i o Crowe Gilcgal i § yapavale
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alber memiber of Lrowe Giobal Croee Ginda! o mol Aidee sy profsssonsd seniors snd does Nof Meve &N Cwmaraiier o Sarnership inamst i
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GOLDEN DEEPS LIMITED
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT

Opinian

We have audited the financial report of Golden Deeps Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the
Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the period then ended, and noles to
the financial statements comprising @ summary of significant accounting policies and the Director's
Dedlaration.

In our opinion the accompanying financial repert of the Group Is in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, incheding:

(a) Giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position at 30 June 2021 and of its financial
performance for the perod then ended; and
ib) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Covporations Regulfations 2001.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibiiities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibiiies for the Audif of the Firancial
Report section of this report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the independence
requiremants of the Corporations Act 2007 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting
Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
{including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant io our audit of the financial repod In
Australia. We have also fulfiled our other ethical responsibilifies in accordance with the Code.

Wae believe that the audit evidence we have oblained is sufficient and appropriale to provide a basis
for our opindon,

Fachnr fAusd) Py Lid, mummqlm—HﬂmM.imm.MmhdhﬁH#i
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Glsha! o By ofer mambar of Croes Glotal Crowe Globe! doas nod render sy profesisnsl sivvoel a9 2008 Aol Rie an ounenship or
parinarehip indernat bs Findar (Ausi] Py Lid Services s provided by Crewe Padh, an sfilkats of Finges (Ausl) Py Lid. Listdlly brled by 8
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Key Audit Matters

Key audi matiers are those matiers that, in our professional judgement, were of mast significance In
our audi of the fnancial report of the current period. These matiers were addressed In the confext of

our awdif of the financial report a5 a whaole, and In forming our opinion theraon, and we do not provide

a saparate opinion cn these matters.

Consideration of Impalrment of capiialised mineral exploration and evaluation expendiiure
The carmying amount of capitalised mineral We performed the following procedures,
exploration and evaluation expenditure was a amongst others:

significant component of the Group's tolal assels

at 54,259 145 at 30 June 2021,

Judgement was required by the Group o assess
whethar there were Indicators of impairment of the
capitalised exploration and evaluation assels due
to the nead to make estimales about future events
and creumstances, such as whather the mineral
resources may be economically viable to mine in

thie future,

This was a key audit matier because of the size of
the balance and the risk of impaimment should the

Group dispose of or relinguish cerain exploration
or mining licences as il continues io assess future

wiabslity.

Evaluated the Group’s assessmant that
thera had been no indicators of mpairment
for its capitalised expioration and evaluation
#ssels, including inquinies with managemani
and the direciors to develog an
undersianding of the curren! siatus and
future intentions for the Group's projects.
For a sample of licences, tested whether the
Group retained right of tenure for its
exploralion licence areas by obtaining
licence status records maintained by the
relevant govermmenl authorities in Namibia
and Ausiralia.

Considered the consistency of information
provided with external reports prepared in
redation o exploration licence areas that
could suggest that the camying value |s
unlikedy to be recovened through
davelopment or sale and management’s
assessment of the fulure likely prospeciivily
of material icence ansas.

Cionsiderad the consistency of information
provided with other available information,
such as ASX releases made by the
Company about the resulls of the axploration
drilling programs and other project
development aclivities,

Obtained plans for fulure axpendiure and
whara applicable compared these io
contraciual minimum licence expendilune
reguiraments,

Reviewing the appropriateness of the related
financlal statemant disclosuras,
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Information Other than the Financial Report and the Audit’s Report Thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Group's 2021 Annual Report for the period ended 30 June 2021 bul does
nod include the financial report and our awditor's repot thereon.

Owur opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do nol exprass any
form of assurance conclusion tharaon.

In connection with aur audit of the financial report, our responsibllity ks to read the other information
and, in doing 50, consider whather the other information is materially inconsistant with the financial
report or our knowledge oblained in the audit or atherwise appears to be matedally misstated.

I, based upon the work we have performed, we conclude that there is material misstatemant of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. Wi have nathing to repart in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Direclors’ for the Financial Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001
and for such internal control as the direciors detarmine is necessary o enable the preparation of the
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud of arror,

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matiers related to going concem and using the
geing concarn basis of accounting, unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group o to
ceasa oparalions, of have no realistic alternative but to do 80,

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are io obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole &s
free from matarial misstaterment, whethar due to fraud or error, and io isswe an auditor's repod that
includes our opinion. Reasonabla assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantes that
an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Audiling Standards will always detect a material
mis-slatement whean it axists. Mis-statemaents can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 1o influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report.

Az par of an audil in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exarcise profassional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

+ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud
or arror, design and perform audit procedures responsive Lo those risks, and obtain audit
gvidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion, The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,



as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the overide
of imbernal control.

« Obtain an understanding of intemal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprassing an
opinicn on the affectiveness of the Group’s intermal control.

= Evaluate the approprialeness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related discloswres made by the directors.

+ Conclude on the approprialeness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and based on the audil evidance obtained whather & material uncertainty exists related to events
and conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability lo conlinue as a going
concern. If we conclude thal a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s repor 1o the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion, However, fulure events or conditions may cause the Group fo
cease o continue as a going concem.

= Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures and whether the financial stalements represent the underlying transactions and
events in @ manner that achiaves fair presentation.

«  Obtain sufficient appropriate audil evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an cpinion on the group financial report. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solaty
responsible for the audit opinion.

We communicate with the direclors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and fiming of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and o communicate with them all relationships and other
matiars that may be reasonably be thowght fo bear on our independence, and where applicable,

related safeguards.

From the matters communicated to the directors, we determing those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial report of the curment period and are therefore the key awdit
matiers. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation preciudes public
disclosure about the matter or whan, in extremely rare circumsiances, we determine that a matier
should be communicaled in our report because the adverse consequences of doing sc would
reasonably be expecied lo outweigh the public interes! benefits of such communication,

Report on the Remuneration Reporl

Opinion on the Remuneration Report
We have audiled the Remuneration Report included in the direciors’ rapodt for the year ended 30

June 2021,

I gur opinion, the Remuneration Repord of Golden Deeps Limited for the period ended 30 June 2021
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Acl 2001,



Responsibiities

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Acf 2001. Qur
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Repor, based on our audit conductad in

accordance with Australian Auditing Standards,

)

Crowe Perth
Sean McGurk
Partner

Signed at Perth, Westemn Australia

30 September 2021



